
PROMISING 
ENERGY

SacOil  
HOldingS limited 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  

2016

EXPLORE | PRODUCE | PROSPER



ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

1 audit and risk committee report
3 Statement of accountability and responsibility
3 company Secretary’s certification
3 Preparation of annual financial statements of the group
4 independent auditors’ report
5 directors’ report
8 Statements of comprehensive income
9 Statements of financial position
10 Statements of changes in equity
11 Statements of cash flows 
12 notes to the consolidated financial statements



SacOil Holdings Limited • ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS • 2016 1

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUDIT AND RISk COMMITTEE REPORT 

The Board confirms that the Committee 
members are suitably skilled and experienced 
to perform the role and responsibilities of the 
Committee. The Board supports the re-election 
of the existing members.

In terms of the Companies Act shareholders will 
elect the Independent Non-executive directors 
who will form part of the Committee for the year 

HigHligHtS

Approved the implementation 
of the Enterprise Risk 
Management framework

Approved the combined 
assurance plan for the Group

Confirmed the absence of 
significant findings from the 
Group’s various assurance 
processes

The report of the Audit and Risk Committee (“Committee”) is presented to shareholders in compliance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act. The Committee acted in accordance with its approved terms of reference, 
requirements of the Companies Act and King III for the year under review. The report of the Committee is approved 
by the Board.

ended 28 February 2017 at the Annual General 
Meeting to be held on 19 September 2016.

ROleS and ReSPOnSibilitieS
The Committee has an independent role with 
accountability to the Board and shareholders. 
The  Committee is a statutory committee 
constituted under the terms of the Companies Act 
and in terms of the recommendations set out 
in King III. The Committee’s responsibilities 
include the statutory duties prescribed by the 
Companies Act, activities recommended by 
King III and the responsibilities assigned by the 
Board. These include:

•	 reviewing	and	challenging,	where	necessary,	
the actions of management in relation to 
the financial statements, interim reports, 
preliminary announcements and related 
formal statements before submission to and 
approval by the Board and before clearance 
by the auditors;

•	 monitoring	matters	 that	 influence	 or	 could	
distort the presentation of accounts and key 
figures;

•	 overseeing	 the	 Group’s	 procedures	 for	
ensuring that the annual report and interim 
results, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced 
and understandable;

•	 considering	the	scope	of	the	annual	External	
Audit and the remuneration of external 
auditors;

•	 considering	 the	 scope	 of	 work	 and	
remuneration of the internal auditors;

•	 considering	 the	 reappointment	 of	 the	
internal and external auditors;

•	 making	 recommendations	 to	 the	Board	 for	
a resolution to be put to the shareholders 
for their approval of the appointment of the 
external auditors and to authorise the board 
to approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditors;

•	 reviewing	and	monitoring	the	independence	
of the external and internal auditors and the 
provision of additional services;

•	 reviewing	internal	financial,	operational	and	
compliance controls, and internal control 
and risk management systems; and

•	 overseeing	 the	 Group’s	 procedures	 for	
detecting fraud and handling allegations.

FeeS
Fees paid to the Committee members are 
detailed on page 55.

exteRnal auditORS’ indePendence
The Committee has to consider the 
independence of the external auditors and 
nominates the appointment of registered 
auditors of the Group.

Following recommendation by the Committee, 
the Board is satisfied with the independence 
of the external auditors and recommends to 
shareholders the reappointment of Ernst & 
Young Inc. as the independent registered audit 
firm, led by Mr Ebrahim Dhorat, the individually 
registered auditor. Ernst & Young Inc. is a JSE-
accredited audit firm.

The external auditors had unrestricted access 
to the Group’s records and management. 
There were no limitations imposed on the scope 
of the External Audit. The auditors furnished a 
written report to the Board on findings arising 
from the annual audit and no significant issues 
were raised relating to the annual financial 
statements.

FeeS Paid tO exteRnal auditORS 
and teRmS OF engagement
The Committee determines the fees to be paid 
to the auditors and also the auditors’ terms of 
engagement. The approved Group annual audit 
fee for the financial period under audit was 
R1.9 million (2015: R1.6 million).

nOn-audit SeRviceS
The Committee determines the nature and 
extent of non-audit services that the auditors 
may provide to the Group. The external auditors, 
Ernst & Young Inc., provided non-audit services 
to the Group relating to various projects. The fee 

membeRSHiP and attendance

Steve Muller 
(Chairman) 4/4

Mzuvukile Maqetuka 3/4

Vusumzi Pikoli 3/4

Ex officio member
Titilola Akinleye 4/4

Auditors (permanent invitees)
External Auditors: EY Inc 4/4

Internal Auditors: Grant Thornton Inc. 4/4

All current members are Independent Non-
executive directors. Other directors can 
attend meetings by invitation. The Chairman 
of the Committee reports to the Board after 
every Committee meeting held.

Ensured the Group remains a 
going concern
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Group for non-audit services amounted to 
R1.3 million (2015: R2.7 million).

evaluatiOn OF tHe annual 
Financial StatementS 
The Board as a whole considered and 
commented on the Group annual financial 
statements, the accounting practices and the 
internal financial controls of the Group.

The Board considered, reviewed and discussed 
the Group annual financial statements with the 
independent external auditors and finance team. 
The Board is satisfied that the Group annual 
financial statements comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as well as the 
SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued 
by the Accounting Practices Committee, the 
Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued 
by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE  Limited 
and the requirements of the Companies Act of 
South  Africa, as disclosed in note 2.1 of the 
annual financial statements.

After agreeing that the going concern premise 
was appropriate the Board approved the Group 
annual financial statements on 26 May 2016. 
These Group annual financial statements will 
be open for discussion at the forthcoming AGM. 
The Chairman of the Committee, and in the 
instance of his absence the other members of 
the Committee, will attend the AGM to answer 
questions falling under the mandate of the 
Committee.

exPeRtiSe and exPeRience OF tHe 
cFO and Finance FunctiOn
The Committee is satisfied with the expertise 
and experience of the Chief Financial Officer 
and recommended his ongoing appointment to 
the Board of directors. This was confirmed by 
the Board.

inteRnal audit
The primary goal of the Internal Audit function 
is to evaluate the Group’s risk management, 
internal control and corporate governance 
processes to ensure that they are adequate 
and functioning correctly. Grant Thornton Inc.
is currently acting as the internal auditors of 
the Group for the year under review and was a 

standing invitee at all Committee meetings held 
during the year.

Areas of Internal Audit focus were the Group’s 
sustainability reporting and enterprise risk 
management implementation. No adverse 
findings arose from these.

The Board as a whole also considered 
internal controls and risk management. While 
considering the information and explanations 
given by management and discussions held 
with the internal and external auditors on the 
results of their audits, the Committee is of 
the opinion that the system of internal financial 
controls is effective and forms a basis for the 
preparation of reliable financial statements.

YeaR undeR Review
Main activities of the Committee during the 
period under review included:

•	 confirming	 the	 terms	 of	 reference	 for	 the	
Committee;

•	 recommending	 the	 approval	 of	 the	 IT	
Charter; 

•	 recommending	 the	 approval	 of	 the	
Procurement Policy;

•	 recommending	 the	 approval	 of	 the	
Enterprise Risk Management framework 
and Combined Assurance Plan;

•	 assessing	 and	 considering	 the	 findings	
of the forensic investigation into historic 
transactions of the Group;

•	 recommending	 the	approval	of	 the	Group’s	
half-year and annual results;

•	 approval	of	the	annual	audit	fees,	including	
non-audit services;

•	 reviewing	 the	 going	 concern	 status	 of	
the Group;

•	 considering	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 internal	
controls;

•	 recommending	 the	approval	of	 the	 Internal	
and External Audit plans for the 2015/2016 
and 2016/2017 financial years;

•	 recommending	 the	 approval	 of	 the	
2016/2017 Group budget;

•	 assessing	 the	 expertise	 and	 experience	 of	
the Chief Financial Officer; and

•	 recommending	 the	reappointment	of	EY	as	
Group auditors.

During the year under review the Committee 
performed the functions required of an audit 
and risk committee on behalf of all subsidiary 
companies in South Africa that are required to 
have an audit and risk committee in terms of 
the Companies Act.

FOcuS aReaS in 2016/2017
•	 Embedding	 of	 the	 ERM	 framework	 across	

the Group;

•	 Implementing	 the	 combined	 assurance	
model for the Group to ensure effective 
assurance;

•	 Ensuring	 that	 the	 external	 auditors’	
independence is safeguarded;

•	 Ensuring	 the	 Group	 remains	 a	 going	
concern;

•	 Maintaining	 effective	 and	 sound	 financial	
management of the Group; and

•	 Ensuring	that	interim	and	final	results	fairly	
represent the performance of the Group.

cOncluSiOn
The Committee is committed to ensuring that 
the financial results of the Group fairly represent 
the performance of the Group and that adequate 
controls are maintained over the next financial 
year. The Group will maintain its focus on 
effective financial governance and assurance 
as we grow over the coming years. I would like 
to thank management, our employees and the 
internal and external auditors for their efforts 
during the year to move SacOil forward. 

Steve Muller
Chairman: Audit and Risk Committee

31 May 2016

AUDIT AND RISk COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTAbILITY 
AND RESPONSIbILITY 
The directors of the Company are responsible 
for the maintenance of accounting records 
and for the preparation, integrity and fair 
presentation of the Company and Group annual 
financial statements of SacOil Holdings Limited. 
The annual financial statements of the Group 
for the year ended 29 February 2016 have 
been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as well 
as the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, 
the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as 
issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council, the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE Limited and in a manner required by 
the Companies Act of South Africa, and are 
consistent with those of the previous year, 
except for the adoption of new accounting 
standards given in note 4.1. They have been 
prepared on a going concern basis and include 
amounts based on judgements and estimates 
made by management. Based on forecasts, 
the directors have no reason to believe that the 
Group or Company will not be a going concern 
in the foreseeable future.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATION 
In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, SacOil Holdings Limited has, in respect of the financial 
year reported upon, lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Properties Commission all returns required of a public company in terms of the Companies 
Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Melinda Gous
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary

26 May 2016

PREPARATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF ThE GROUP 
The Group and Company annual financial statements were prepared under the supervision of Mr MD Matroos CA (SA).

MD Matroos
Chief Financial Officer

26 May 2016

The directors have also prepared the other 
information included in this integrated annual 
report and are responsible for both its accuracy 
and consistency with the Company and Group 
financial statements.

The directors also have a general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably open 
to them to safeguard the assets of the Group 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities.

There has been no material change in the affairs 
and trading position of the Company and its 
subsidiaries since the date of signature of the 
Audit and Risk Committee Report and the date 
of the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

The directors are not aware of any legal or 
arbitration proceedings active, pending or 
threatened against or being brought by the 
Group or Company, other than as disclosed in the 
Directors’ Report on page 5, which may have a 
material effect on the Group’s financial position 
or which have had a material effect during the 
12 months preceding the date of the Notice of 

Annual General Meeting. The  Company and 
Group annual financial statements have been 
audited by the independent accounting firm, 
Ernst & Young Inc., which was given unrestricted 
access to all financial records and related 
data, including minutes of all shareholders’, 
directors’ and Committee meetings. The 
directors believe that all representations made 
to the independent auditors during their audit 
were valid and appropriate.

The Independent Auditors’ Report is presented 
on page 4. The  annual financial statements 
were approved by the Board of directors on 
26 May 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

TT Mboweni  Dr T kgogo
Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer

26 May 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF SACOIL HOLDINGS LIMITED

RePORt On tHe audited cOnSOlidated 
and SePaRate Financial StatementS
We have audited the consolidated and separate 

financial statements of SacOil Holdings Limited 

set out on pages 8 to 63, which comprise 

the consolidated and separate statements of 

financial position as at 29 February 2016, and 

the consolidated and separate statements of 

comprehensive income, statements of changes 

in equity and consolidated and separate 
statements of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the notes, comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

diRectORS’ ReSPOnSibilitY FOR tHe 
Financial StatementS
The Company’s directors are responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated and separate financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

auditORS’ ReSPOnSibilitY 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on these consolidated and separate financial 

statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 

that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated and 
separate financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPiniOn
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate 

financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated and separate 

financial position of SacOil Holdings Limited 

at 29 February 2016, and its consolidated 

and separate financial performance and 

consolidated and separate cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, 

and the requirements of the Companies Act of 

South Africa.

OtHeR RePORtS RequiRed bY tHe 
cOmPanieS act 
As part of our audit of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements for the year ended 

29 February 2016, we have read the Directors’ 

Report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s Report 

and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for 

the purpose of identifying whether there are 

material inconsistencies between these reports 

and the audited consolidated and separate 

financial statements. These reports are the 

responsibility of the directors. Based on reading 

these reports we have not identified material 

inconsistencies between these reports and the 

audited consolidated and separate financial 

statements. However, we have not audited 

these reports and accordingly do not express an 

opinion on these reports.

RePORt On OtHeR legal and 
RegulatORY RequiRementS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in 
Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 
4 December 2015, we report that Ernst & Young 
Inc. has been the auditor of SacOil Holdings 
Limited for five years.

 

Ernst & Young Inc.
Director – Iwan Hermanus Grobler
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountant (SA)
31 May 2016
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors submit their annual report on 
the affairs of the Company together with the 
Group consolidated annual financial statements 
and audit report of SacOil Holdings Limited 
(“SacOil”) for the year ended 29 February 2016.

PRinciPal activitieS
The Group’s principal activity is oil production 
in Egypt; exploration and appraisal in the 
Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”), Malawi 
and Botswana; and midstream and downstream 
projects including an oil terminal project in 
Equatorial Guinea. The Group continues to 
assess opportunities in other African countries 
across the O&G spectrum.

Financial ReSultS
The results of the Group and the state of its 
affairs are set out in the consolidated annual 
financial statements and accompanying notes 
for the year ended 29 February 2016.

The Group’s profit for the year was R39.6 million 
(2015: R277.0 million loss).

Operating results for the Group were positively 
impacted by the weakening of the South African 
Rand, the reorganisation of the Group’s holding 
in Block III in the DRC and the non-recurrence 
of the once-off write-downs related to the 
restructuring of the Group’s portfolio of assets 
in 2015.

Stated caPital
The Company has not issued any ordinary 
shares during the year under review and up to 
the date of signature of these annual financial 
statements.

dividendS
The directors have not recommended the 
distribution of a dividend for the financial year 
(2015: nil).

diRectORS and cOmPanY 
SecRetaRY
No new directors were appointed during the 
financial year under review.

Mr Gontse Moseneke did not offer himself 
for re-election as Non-executive director at 
the Annual General Meeting of SacOil held on 
1  October  2015. Mr  Moseneke accordingly 
retired as a director of the Company with effect 
from 1 October 2015.

diRectORS’ and management’S inteReStS in SHaReS
 2016 2015

 
Direct

 beneficial
% of issued 

share capital 1
Direct 

beneficial
% of issued 

share capital

Dr Thabo Kgogo  342 000 0.010  342 000 0.010

Ignatius Sehoole  300 000 0.009  300 000 0.009

Stephanus Muller  578 003 0.018  578 003 0.018

Bradley Cerff  510 000 0.016  110 000 0.003

Damain Matroos  172 413 0.005 – –

Total 1 902 416 0.058 1 330 003 0.040

Indirect
 beneficial

% of issued 
share capital 1

Indirect 
beneficial

% of issued
 share capital

Danladi Verheijen2 82 704 935 2.529 82 359 453 2.519

Direct and indirect beneficial shareholding 84 607 351 2.587 83 689 456 2.549

1 Based on 3 269 836 208 shares in issue at 29 February 2016.
2  Mr Danladi Verheijen holds a 42.61% beneficial interest in Verod Holdings Limited, a company which owns an 80% interest in Newdel Holdings Limited, which owns a 7.42% 

(2015: 7.39%) interest in SacOil. This disclosure reflects his effective interest in SacOil.

There were no shares traded by the directors between 1 March 2016 and the date of issue of this annual financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

bORROwing FacilitieS
The Company and Group had no borrowing 
facilities during the current year (2015: RNil).

cORPORate activitY
SacOil terminated its participation in OPL 233 in 
Nigeria on 19 May 2015. 

gOing cOnceRn
The directors are confident that the Group will 
be a going concern for the foreseeable future.

eventS aFteR tHe RePORting 
PeRiOd
The following events occurred after the 
reporting period and are detailed in note 37 to 
the annual financial statements:

•	 During	April	2016,	SacOil	and	Energy	Equity	
Resources (“EER”) signed a Memorandum 
of Understanding to explore oil and gas 
opportunities in the Republic of Nigeria. 
Pursuant to this initiative, SacOil and EER 
were awarded a 12-month contract for 
the purchase of crude oil grades by the 
Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation for 
onward sale. The first lifting of the crude oil 
is expected to take place in the middle of 
June 2016.

•	 The	receivable	from	Encha	Energy	(“Encha”),	
disclosed in note 19, became due and 
payable on 29 February 2016. This amount 
remains unpaid as at the date of this report. 
Under the terms of the Acknowledgement 
of Debt Agreement concluded with Encha, 
should the amount remain outstanding 
post the due date, interest calculated at 
the prime rate plus 3% shall accrue on 
the outstanding balance. Notwithstanding 
the date on which the outstanding balance 
became due and payable, such interest 
will be calculated from 28 February 2013 
to the date of actual payment. The Group 
is in discussions to recover these funds. 
See additional disclosure in note 37. 

SPecial ReSOlutiOnS PaSSed
The following special resolutions were passed 
during the year under review at the AGM held 
on 1 October 2015:

•	 general	 authority	 to	 reacquire	 (repurchase)	

shares;

•	 remuneration	of	Non-executive	directors;	and

•	 financial	assistance	in	terms	of	sections 44	

and 45 of the Companies Act.

litigatiOn uPdate
Mr JoSEph ModIbANE
A SENS announcement published on 

28  February  2013 reported that Mr Modibane 

passed away on 23 February 2013. It remains to 

be seen whether an executor for Mr Modibane’s 

estate elects to persist with the following 

two actions:

The Company previously reported on two 

actions instituted by Mr Joseph Modibane 

(“Mr  Modibane”) in the North Gauteng High 

Court. In the first action Mr Modibane alleged 

that he was entitled to receive 105 000 000 

SacOil shares at an issue price of 30 cents per 

SacOil share, but that the Company unlawfully 

declined to deliver the SacOil shares to him. 

Consequently Mr Modibane alleged that the 

Company’s unlawful conduct entitled him 

to claim damages against it in the amount of 

R67.2 million plus interest at the rate of 15.5% 

per annum from 14 September 2010 to the date 

of payment.

In a second action Mr Modibane alleged that 

the content of the announcement made by the 

Company on 15 September 2010 in relation to 

the first action was defamatory to him and he 

claimed payment from the Company of damages 

in the amount of R80 million, together with 

interest at the rate of 15.5% per annum from 

22 September 2010 to the date of payment.

Based on the information in the Board’s 

possession the Board is of the view that the 

claims have no substance and the Company’s 

legal advisers are defending both actions. 

Pleadings closed in both actions. Trial  dates 

that were allocated were not convenient. The 

actions were therefore, by agreement, removed 

from the trial roll.

Mr robIN VELA
The Company instituted legal action against 
Mr  Robin Vela (its former CEO) in which it 
claimed an amount of R3 324 524 together with 
interest in respect of taxes that became due to 
the South African Revenue Service and which 
were not deducted from the salary that was 
paid to him by the Company during his tenure 
as CEO.

Mr Vela is defending the action and has also 
raised three counterclaims in the action in terms 
of which he claims an amount of R280  749 
allegedly owing in respect of unpaid leave; an 
amount of R2 784 948 allegedly due in respect 
of a bonus; and an amount of R16  881  459 
allegedly owing in respect of the breach of a 
share option agreement. In addition, Mr Vela is 
also claiming interest on these amounts. 

Documents relating to SacOil and Vela’s claims 
have gone through the discovery process and 
SacOil awaits a trial date to pursue its claim and 
defend the counterclaims made by Mr Vela.

opL 281
As previously announced, SacOil 281 
Nigeria Limited (“SacOil 281”) terminated its 
participation with Transnational Corporation of 
Nigeria Plc (“Transcorp”), the operator of Oil 
Prospecting Licence (“OPL”) 281.

SacOil paid $12.5 million towards farm-in fees 
on 28 February 2011, which fees contractually 
were to be refunded with interest by Transcorp. 
Notwithstanding the receipt of Transcorp’s 
acknowledgment of its refund obligation, 
SacOil subsequently received notice from 
Transcorp that SacOil’s termination of the Farm-
out and Participation Agreement (“FoPA”) in 
December 2014 was wrongful and amounted to 
a repudiation of the FoPA. Pursuant to the FoPA, 
SacOil 281 filed a notice for arbitration with 
the Nigerian Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, 
Nigeria Branch on 28 August 2015 to recover its 
farm-in and related fees plus interest thereon. 

Transcorp in response filed the following two 
court applications in the High Court of Lagos 
State: (i) alleging the repudiation of the FoPA 
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by SacOil 281; and (ii) challenging the validity, 
applicability and appointment of arbitrators 
and the arbitration clause in the FoPA. SacOil 
281 is opposing these proceedings and 
has subsequently filed a Motion for stay of 
proceedings pending arbitration, in accordance 
with the provisions of Nigeria’s Arbitration and 
Conciliation Act. 

The High Court of Lagos State on 
8  December  2015 ruled on the Motion for 
stay of proceedings pending arbitration filed 
by SacOil, and refused same. SacOil appealed 
against the adverse decision and judgement is 
presently reserved.

Transcorp is claiming damages in the amount 
of $50 million.

opL 233
As previously announced,  SacOil 233 Nigeria 
Limited’s (“SacOil 233”) exit from OPL 233 
has triggered the following legal actions from 
Nigdel: 

•	 action	at	 the	Federal	High	Court	of	Nigeria	
against Ecobank, SacOil 233, EER 233 
& Others in respect of the US$ 10 million 
repayment of the cash collateral by Ecobank 
for the Performance Bond in the amount of 
US$ 25 million which was in favour of the  
NNPC. Nigdel is seeking injunctive orders 
to restrain Ecobank from refunding the 
US$ 10 million to SacOil/EER on the ground 
that the Performance Bond is subsisting in 
spite of the allegation of the Defendants 
(including Ecobank) that the Performance 
Bond had lapsed by the effluxion of time and 
that the US$ 10 million had been refunded 
by Ecobank. The matter was initially heard 
30 November 2015, with  Ecobank as lead 
defendant. The court heard Ecobank’s 
motion to set aside the interim order earlier 
made by the court as well as the preliminary 
objection of Ecobank on the competence 
of the suit. Such motion was denied and 
is currently subject to an appeal hearing. 
The matter was heard at Federal High Court 

on 9 March 2016 and on 23 May 2016 and 
has been adjourned further to 1 July 2016 
for argument on Ecobank’s motion for stay 
of proceedings pending arbitration.

•	 arbitral	 proceedings	 against	 SacOil	 233	
and EER 233 under the OPL 233 Farm-in 
Agreement (“FiA”). The Arbitral Tribunal 
was constituted by the Chairman of the 
Nigerian Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
with the preliminary meeting held on 
26  November  2015. The Tribunal issued a 
procedural timetable with hearing scheduled 
for 12 to 15 July 2016 at the International 
Centre for Arbitration and ADR, Lekki, Lagos. 
It is expected that that matter should be 
completed six weeks after the completion 
of the arbitration. Nigdel’s action is based 
on SacOil and EER’s subsidiaries allegedly 
defaulting on their financial obligations 
in terms of the OPL 233 FiA. Nigdel is 
claiming US$7.9 million from SacOil 233 
for general, administrative and operational 
costs. In addition, Nigdel is claiming, jointly 
and severally from SacOil’s and EER’s 
subsidiaries: (i) US$74 million related to 
the minimum work commitments under 
the PSC; and (ii) US$150 million for general 
damages. Nigdel’s total claim against SacOil 
amounts to approximately US$232  million. 
SacOil and EERNL’s subsidiaries are 
opposing these proceedings and have 
submitted a counter claim in the amount 
of approximately $45 million with interest 
at 0.5% per annum from May 2015. The 
counter claim includes all payments to date, 
including farm-in fees, payments made by 
EER and SacOil, payments made by EER on 
behalf of SacOil and the borrowing costs.

accOunting POlicieS
The Company’s and Group’s annual financial 
statements for the year ended 29 February 2016 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
and in a manner required by the Companies Act 
(as disclosed in note 2.1).

The Group’s accounting policies have been 
consistently applied with the previous year, 
except in circumstances where there was 
an adoption of new or revised standards as 
disclosed in the annual financial statements for 
the year ended 29 February 2016.

RetiRement FundS
The Group introduced a defined contribution 
retirement scheme on 1  April  2015 for its 
South African-based employees to improve the 
employee value proposition.

SubSidiaRieS
Details of the subsidiaries of the Company 
are set out in note 17 of the annual financial 
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE  
STATEMENTS OF COMPREhENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 29 February 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

Revenue 5 4 746 2 095 – –

Cost of sales (15 286) (3 225) – –

Gross loss (10 540) (1 130) – –

Other income 258 239 103 334 136 554 60 840

Other operating costs (194 429) (510 106) (70 090) (643 179)

Profit/(loss) from operations 6 53 270 (407 902) 66 464 (582 339)

Investment income 7 46 744 158 052 19 935 117 455

Finance costs 8 (4) (1) (4) –

Profit/(loss) before taxation 100 010 (249 851) 86 395 (464 884)

Taxation 9 (60 422) (27 178) 5 284 2 939

Profit/(loss) for the year 39 588 (277 029) 91 679 (461 945)

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 61 460 8 717 – –

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation 11 61 460 8 717 – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 101 048 (268 312) 91 679 (461 945)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 53 584 (269 216) 91 679 (461 945)

Non-controlling interest 27 (13 996) (7 813) – –

Profit/(loss) for the year 39 588 (277 029) 91 679 (461 945)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 115 044 (260 499) 91 679 (461 945)

Non-controlling interest 27 (13 996) (7 813) – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 101 048 (268 312) 91 679 (461 945)

Earnings/(loss) per share 

Basic (cents) 32  1.64  (8.54)

Diluted (cents) 32  1.64  (8.54)
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE  
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 29 February 2016

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Exploration and evaluation assets 15 50 975 75 950 259 1 197

Oil and gas properties 16 166 030 122 870 – –

Investments in subsidiaries 17 – – 196 460 196 460

Loans to Group companies 18 – – 163 700 108 476

Other financial assets 19 253 799 345 753 57 484 108 077

Property, plant and equipment 20 1 075 343 1 075 343

Other intangible assets 21 57 845 61 096 435 206

Total non-current assets 529 724 606 012 419 413 414 759

Current assets

Other financial assets 19 383 145 331 641 230 263 179 531

Inventories 22 9 330 6 642 – –

Trade and other receivables 23 3 405 7 153 1 035 484

Cash and cash equivalents 24 107 349 229 431 90 071 108 641

Total current assets 503 229 574 867 321 369 288 656

Asset held for sale 25 – 21 840 – –

Total assets 1 032 953 1 202 719 740 782 703 415

EqUITY AND LIAbILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Stated capital 26 1 216 504 1 216 504 1 216 504 1 216 504

Reserves 26 77 963 15 607 7 786 6 890

Accumulated loss (375 253) (448 655) (512 436) (604 115)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 919 214 783 456 711 854 619 279

Non-controlling interest 27 – 4 417 – –

Total shareholders’ equity 919 214 787 873 711 854 619 279

LIAbILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liability 29 78 526 97 146 – 2 076

Total non-current liabilities 78 526 97 146 – 2 076

Current liabilities

Loan from Group company 18 – – 318 318

Other financial liabilities 30 – 57 889 – –

Current tax payable 12 851 212 417 12 851 40 835

Trade and other payables 31 22 362 25 554 15 759 19 067

Total current liabilities 35 213 295 860 28 928 60 220

Total liabilities 113 739 393 006 28 928 62 296

Liabilities directly associated with asset held for sale 25 – 21 840 – 21 840

Total equity and liabilities 1 032 953 1 202 719 740 782 703 415
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE  
STATEMENTS OF ChANGES IN EqUITY 
for the year ended 29 February 2016

Stated
capital

(Note 26)
R’000

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

(Note 26)
R’000

Share-based
payment
reserve

(Note 26)
R’000

Total
reserves

R’000

Accumulated
loss

R’000

Total equity
attributable

to equity
holders of
the parent

R’000

Non-
controlling

interest
R’000

Total
equity
R’000

GROUP 

balance at 28 February 2014 1 109 977 – 6 002 6 002 (179 427) 936 552 12 218 948 770

Changes in equity: –

Loss for the year – – – – (269 216) (269 216) (7 813) (277 029)

Other comprehensive income for the year – 8 717 – 8 717 – 8 717 – 8 717

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year – 8 717 – 8 717 (269 216) (260 499) (7 813) (268 312)

Issue of shares 106 527 – – – – 106 527 – 106 527

Share options issued – – 888 888 – 888 – 888

Acquisition of non-controlling interest (note 27.2) – – – – (12) (12) 12 –

Total changes 106 527 8 717 888 9 605 (269 228) (153 096) (7 801) (160 897)

balance at 28 February 2015 1 216 504 8 717 6 890 15 607 (448 655) 783 456 4 417 787 873

Changes in equity: 

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – 53 584 53 584 (13 996) 39 588

Other comprehensive income for the year – 61 460 – 61 460 – 61 460 – 61 460

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year – 61 460 – 61 460 53 584 115 044 (13 996) 101 048

Share options issued – – 896 896 – 896 – 896

Acquisition of non-controlling interest (note 27.2) – – – – 19 818 19 818 (19 818) –

Sale of non-controlling interest (note 13) – – – – – – 29 397 29 397

Total changes – 61 460 896 62 356 73 402 135 758 (4 417) 131 341

balance at 29 February 2016 1 216 504 70 177 7 786 77 963 (375 253) 919 214 – 919 214

COMPANY 

Balance at 28 February 2014 1 109 977 – 6 002 6 002 (142 170) 973 809 – 973 809

Changes in equity: 

Loss for the year – – – – (461 945) (461 945) – (461 945)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – (461 945) (461 945) – (461 945)

Share options issued – – 888 888 – 888 – 888

Issue of shares 106 527 – – – – 106 527 – 106 527

Total changes 106 527 – 888 888 (461 945) (354 530) – (354 530)

balance at 28 February 2015 1 216 504 – 6 890 6 890 (604 115) 619 279 – 619 279

Changes in equity: 

Profit for the year – – – – 91 679 91 679 – 91 679

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 91 679 91 679 – 91 679

Share options issued – – 896 896 – 896 – 896

Total changes – – 896 896 91 679 92 575 – 92 575

balance at 29 February 2016 1 216 504 – 7 786 7 786 (512 436) 711 854 – 711 854
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE  
STATEMENTS OF CASh FLOwS 
for the year ended 29 February 2016

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 33 (81 375) (39 130) (71 284) (51 334)

Interest income 8 756 6 962 8 373 6 961

Finance costs (4) (1) (4) –

Net cash used in operating activities (72 623) (32 169) (62 915) (44 373)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 20 (1 063) (234) (1 063) (234)

Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets (873) (69 119) – (300)

Purchase of oil and gas properties 16 (55 444) (7 270) – –

Purchase of other intangible assets 21 (409) (136) (409) (136)

Acquisition of subsidiary 12 – (44 540) – (45 200)

Disposal of subsidiary 13 (107) – – –

Loans advanced to Group companies – – (17 273) (88 268)

Payments received for other financial assets 63 088 13 461 63 090 13 462

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 5 192 (107 838) 44 345 (120 676)

Cash flows from financing activities

Settlement of borrowings – (20 461) – –

Proceeds from other financial liabilities – 420 – 420

Repayments from other financial liabilities (61 092) – – –

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (61 092) (20 041) – 420

Total movement in cash and cash equivalents for the year (128 523) (160 048) (18 570) (164 629)

Foreign exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 6 441 7 899 – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 229 431 381 580 108 641 273 270

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 24 107 349 229 431 90 071 108 641
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NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 29 February 2016

1 geneRal inFORmatiOn
SacOil Holdings Limited (“the Company”, together with its subsidiaries, “the Group”), is a company incorporated in South Africa and is listed on both 
the JSE and AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange. General company information is included on page 65 of the consolidated annual financial 
statements. The Group has a diverse portfolio of assets spanning production in Egypt; exploration and appraisal in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 
Malawi and Botswana; and midstream projects including a crude trading allocation in Nigeria and a terminal project in Equatorial Guinea. The Company 
continues to evaluate industry opportunities throughout Africa as it seeks to establish itself as a leading, full-cycle pan-African oil and gas company. 

The consolidated annual financial statements of the Group for the year ended 29 February 2016 were approved and authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the Board of directors dated 26 May 2016.

2 SummaRY OF SigniFicant accOunting POlicieS
2.1 bASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated annual financial statements of SacOil Holdings Limited and all of its subsidiaries for the year ended 29 February 2016 have 
been prepared in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, which comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as well as the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements 
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited and in a manner required by the Companies 
Act of South Africa, and are consistent with those of the previous year, except for the adoption of new accounting standards given in note 4.1. 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and are presented in South African Rands (“Rands”).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.

Going concern
The consolidated and separate annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

2.2 bASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group 
controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has all of the following:

•	 power	over	the	investee	(i.e.	existing	rights	that	give	it	the	current	ability	to	direct	the	relevant	activities	of	the	investee);

•	 exposure,	or	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and

•	 the	ability	to	use	its	power	over	the	investee	to	affect	its	returns.

Where the Group has less than a majority of the voting, or similar, rights of an investee it considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

•	 the	contractual	arrangement(s)	with	the	other	vote	holders	of	the	investee;

•	 rights	arising	from	other	contractual	arrangements;	and

•	 the	Group’s	voting	rights	and	potential	voting	rights.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control 
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the 
non-controlling interests (“NCIs”), even if this results in the NCI having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control 
over a subsidiary it:

•	 derecognises	the	assets	(including	goodwill)	and	liabilities	of	the	subsidiary;

•	 derecognises	the	carrying	amount	of	any	NCI;

•	 derecognises	the	cumulative	translation	differences	recorded	in	equity;

•	 recognises	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received;

•	 recognises	the	fair	value	of	any	investment	retained;

•	 recognises	any	surplus	or	deficit	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	and	other	comprehensive	income;	and

•	 	reclassifies	the	parent’s	share	of	components	previously	recognised	in	OCI	to	profit	or	loss	or	retained	earnings,	as	appropriate,	as	would	be	
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Interests in joint arrangements

IFRS defines a joint arrangement as an arrangement over which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed 
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities (being those that significantly affect the 
returns of the arrangement) require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint operations

A joint operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and 
obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. In relation to its interests in joint operations the Group recognises its:

•	 assets,	including	its	share	of	any	assets	held	jointly;

•	 liabilities,	including	its	share	of	any	liabilities	incurred	jointly;

•	 revenue	from	the	sale	of	its	share	of	the	output	arising	from	the	joint	operation;

•	 share	of	the	revenue	from	the	sale	of	the	output	by	the	joint	operation;	and

•	 expenses,	including	its	share	of	any	expenses	incurred	jointly.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the 
joint arrangement. The Group’s investment in its joint venture is accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method the investment 
in the joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of 
net assets of the joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment 
and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The statement of profit or loss and OCI reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the joint venture. Any change in OCI of that 
investee is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture, 
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
transactions between the Group and the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of the joint venture is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss and OCI as part of 
operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and NCI in the subsidiaries of joint ventures.

The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are made 
to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

At each reporting date the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the joint venture is impaired. If there 
is such evidence the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint venture and 
its carrying value, then recognises the loss as “share of profit of a joint venture” in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

On loss of joint control over the joint venture the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between 
the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.
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2 SummaRY OF SigniFicant accOunting POlicieS (continued)

2.2 bASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

Reimbursement of costs of the operator of the joint arrangement

When the Group, acting as an operator or manager of a joint arrangement, receives reimbursement of direct costs recharged to the joint 
arrangement, such recharges represent reimbursements of costs that the operator incurred as an agent for the joint arrangement and therefore 
have no effect on profit or loss. 

When the Group charges a management fee (based on a fixed percentage of total costs incurred for the year) to cover other general costs incurred 
in carrying out the activities on behalf of the joint arrangement, it is not acting as an agent. Therefore, the general overhead expenses and the 
management fee are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and OCI as an expense and income, respectively.

2.3 TRANSACTIONS wITh NCIs

Non-controlling shareholders are treated as equity participants. Acquisitions and disposals of additional interests in the Group’s subsidiaries are 
accounted for as equity transactions and the excess of the purchase consideration over the carrying value of net assets acquired is recognised 
directly in equity. Profits and losses arising on transactions with NCIs where control is maintained subsequent to the disposal are recognised 
directly in equity. Any dilution gains or losses are also recognised directly in equity.

2.4 bUSINESS COMbINATIONS AND GOODwILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any NCI in the acquiree. For each business combination 
the Group elects whether to measure the NCI in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in other operating costs.

When the Group acquires a business it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in 
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation 
of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and OCI. It is then considered in the determination of goodwill. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration 
classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
is measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised either in profit or loss or as a change to OCI. If the contingent consideration is 
not within the scope of IAS 39 it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for NCI over 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is in excess of 
the aggregate consideration transferred (bargain purchase), before recognising a gain, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly identified 
all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the 
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, 
then the gain is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

After initial recognition goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are 
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with 
the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in 
these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the CGU retained.

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016
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2.5 INVESTMENTS IN SUbSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries held by the Company are stated at cost less any provision for impairment.

2.6 SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief 
operating decision-maker is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.

2.7 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of each of the Group entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). The consolidated and separate annual financial statements are 
presented in South African Rands (“Rands”) which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting 
date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that 
are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in OCI until the net investment is 
disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on 
those monetary items are also recorded in OCI. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of 
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the 
recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in 
OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(b)  income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are 
translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in OCI.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in OCI.
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2 SummaRY OF SigniFicant accOunting POlicieS (continued)
2.8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than R5 000 are 
immediately expensed in profit or loss. All repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and fittings 6 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

Computer equipment 3 – 5 years

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss under operating expenses in the year in which it occurs.

An item of property, plant and equipment or any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

2.9 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Oil and natural gas exploration, evaluation and development expenditure are accounted for using the successful efforts method of accounting.

(i) Pre-licence costs
Pre-licence costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(ii) Licence and property acquisition costs
Exploration licence and leasehold property acquisition costs are capitalised in intangible assets. Licence costs paid in connection with 
a  right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised over the term of the permit. Licence and property 
acquisition costs are reviewed at each reporting date to confirm that there is no indication that the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount. This review includes confirming that exploration drilling is still under way or firmly planned, or that it has been 
determined, or work is under way to determine that the discovery is economically viable based on a range of technical and commercial 
considerations and sufficient progress is being made on establishing development plans and timing. 

If no future activity is planned or the licence has been relinquished or has expired, the carrying value of the licence and property 
acquisition costs is written off through profit or loss. Upon recognition of Proved reserves and internal approval for development 
the relevant expenditure is transferred to oil and gas properties.

(iii) Exploration and evaluation costs
Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for hydrocarbon resources, the determination of technical feasibility and the 
assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Once the legal right to explore has been acquired costs directly associated 
with an exploration well are capitalised as exploration and evaluation intangible assets until the drilling of the well is complete and the 
results have been evaluated. These costs include directly attributable employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, geological and 
geophysical costs, rig costs and payments made to contractors.

If no potentially commercial hydrocarbons are discovered the exploration asset is written off through profit or loss as a dry hole. 
If extractable hydrocarbons are found and, subject to further appraisal activity (e.g. the drilling of additional wells), are likely to be capable 
of being commercially developed the costs continue to be carried as an intangible asset while sufficient/continued progress is made 
in assessing the commerciality of the hydrocarbons. Costs directly associated with appraisal activity undertaken to determine the size, 
characteristics and commercial potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery of hydrocarbons, including the costs of appraisal 
wells where hydrocarbons were not found, are initially capitalised as an intangible asset.

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016



SacOil Holdings Limited • ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS • 2016 17

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All such capitalised costs are subject to technical, commercial and management review, as well as review for indicators of impairment at 
least once a year. This is to confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract value from the discovery. When this is no longer 
the case the costs are written off through profit or loss.

When Proved reserves of oil and natural gas are identified and development is sanctioned by management the relevant capitalised 
expenditure is first assessed for impairment and (if required) any impairment loss is recognised, then the remaining balance is transferred 
to oil and gas properties. Other than licence costs no amortisation is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

For exchanges, or parts of exchanges that involve only exploration and evaluation assets, the exchange is accounted for at the carrying 
value of the asset given up and no gain or loss is recognised.

(iv) Farm-outs – in the exploration and evaluation phase
In accounting for farm-outs, the Group:

•	 derecognises	the	portion	of	the	asset	sold	to	the	farmee;

•	 	recognises	 the	consideration	 received	or	 receivable	 from	 the	 farmee,	which	 represents	 the	 farmee’s	obligation	 to	 fund	 the	capital	
expenditure in relation to the interest retained by the farmer;

•	 	recognises	a	gain	or	loss	on	the	transaction	for	the	difference	between	the	net	disposal	proceeds	and	the	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	
disposed of. A gain is only recognised when the value of the consideration can be determined reliably. If not, the Group accounts for the 
consideration received as a reduction in the carrying amount of the underlying assets; and

•	 tests	the	retained	interest	for	impairment	if	the	terms	of	the	arrangement	indicate	that	the	retained	interest	may	be	impaired.

The consideration receivable on disposal of an item of exploration and evaluation assets is recognised as a financial asset initially at fair 
value and subsequently in line with note 2.12.1 below.

Costs incurred on behalf of the Group under cost carry arrangements are not capitalised pending the outcome of exploration activities and 
are considered to be dependent on uncertain events within the scope of IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
Should a liability be possible a contingent liability is disclosed. Should the liability be probable a provision is recognised. Contingent assets 
are not recognised, but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When the realisation of income is virtually certain 
then the related asset is not a contingent asset and its recognition is appropriate.

(v) Development costs
Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the drilling of 
development wells, including unsuccessful development or delineation wells, is capitalised within oil and gas properties.

2.10 OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES
(i) Initial recognition

Oil and gas properties are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into 
operation, the initial estimate of the decommissioning obligation and, for qualifying assets (where relevant), borrowing costs. The purchase 
price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset.

When a development project moves into the production stage the capitalisation of certain construction/development costs ceases and 
costs are either regarded as part of the cost of inventory or expensed, except for costs which qualify for capitalisation relating to oil and 
gas property asset additions, improvements or new developments.

(ii) Depreciation/amortisation
Oil and gas properties are depreciated/amortised on a unit-of-production basis over the total Proved and Probable reserves of the field 
concerned, except in the case of assets whose useful lives are shorter than the lifetime of the field, in which case the straight-line method 
is applied. Rights and concessions are depleted on the unit-of-production basis over the total Proved developed and undeveloped reserves 
of the relevant area. The unit-of-production rate calculation for the depreciation/amortisation of field development costs takes into account 
expenditures incurred to date, together with sanctioned future development expenditure.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation/amortisation are reviewed at each reporting period and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.
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2.10 OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES (continued)

(iii) Farm-outs – outside the exploration and evaluation phase (“E&E phase”)
In accounting for a farm-out arrangement outside the E&E phase the Group:

•	 derecognises	the	proportion	of	the	asset	that	it	has	sold	to	the	farmee;

•	 	recognises	the	consideration	received	or	receivable	from	the	farmee,	which	represents	the	cash	received	and/or	the	farmee’s	obligation	
to fund the capital expenditure in relation to the interest retained by the farmer;

•	 	recognises	a	gain	or	loss	on	the	transaction	for	the	difference	between	the	net	disposal	proceeds	and	the	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	
disposed of. A gain is recognised only when the value of the consideration can be determined reliably. If not, then the Group accounts 
for the consideration received as a reduction in the carrying amount of the underlying assets; and

•	 tests	the	retained	interests	for	impairment	if	the	terms	of	the	arrangement	indicate	that	the	retained	interest	may	be	impaired.

The consideration receivable on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment or an intangible asset is recognised initially at its fair 
value by the Group. However, if payment for the item is deferred, the consideration received is recognised initially at the cash price equivalent. 
The difference between the nominal amount of the consideration and the cash price equivalent is recognised as interest revenue. Any part of 
the consideration that is receivable in the form of cash is treated as a financial asset and is accounted for at amortised cost.

(iv) Major maintenance, inspection and repairs
Expenditure on major maintenance refits, inspections or repairs comprises the cost of replacement assets or parts of assets, inspection 
costs and overhaul costs. Where an asset, or part of an asset that was separately depreciated and is now written off, is replaced and it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group the expenditure is capitalised. Where part of the 
asset replaced was not separately considered as a component and therefore not depreciated separately, the replacement value is used to 
estimate the carrying amount of the replaced asset(s) and is immediately written off. Inspection costs associated with major maintenance 
programmes are capitalised and amortised over the period to the next inspection. All other day-to-day repairs and maintenance costs are 
expensed as incurred.

2.11 OThER INTANGIbLE ASSETS
Other intangible assets include computer software and petroleum reserves.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
(calculated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives) and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised. Instead, the related expenditure is 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life 
is reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense 
category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the CGU level. 
The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change 
in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

The useful life of the Group’s computer software and petroleum reserves is three years and twelve years, respectively.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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2.12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2.12.1 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables
(i) Recognition and measurement

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 
included in finance income in profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in profit or loss in finance costs 
for loans and in cost of sales or other operating expenses for receivables. 

Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise “loans to Group companies”, 
“other financial assets”, “trade receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the statement of financial position (notes 18, 
19, 23 and 24).

(ii) Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
when:

•	 the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	and

•	 	the	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	or	has	assumed	an	obligation	to	pay	the	received	
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement 
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent 
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred 
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

2.12.2 Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities as loans and borrowings. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 
liabilities were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and borrowings
(i) Recognition and measurement

Loans and borrowings are recorded initially at fair value. After initial recognition interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or loss.

Loans and borrowings are included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. These are classified as non-current liabilities. The Group’s loans and borrowings comprise “loans from Group 
companies”, “other financial liabilities” and “trade payables” in the statement of financial position (notes 18, 30 and 31).

(ii) Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2.12.3 Off-setting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are off-set and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 
enforceable right to off-set the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

2.12.4 Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either:

•	 in	the	principal	market	for	the	asset	or	liability;	or

•	 in	the	absence	of	a	principal	market,	in	the	most	advantageous	market	for	the	asset	or	liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act 
in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use 
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure 
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

•	 Level	1	–		Quoted	(unadjusted)	market	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities

•	 	Level	2	–		Valuation	techniques	for	which	the	lowest-level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	measurement	is	directly	or	indirectly	
observable

•	 Level	3	–		Valuation	techniques	for	which	the	lowest-level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	measurement	is	unobservable

For the purpose of fair value disclosures the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature, characteristics 
and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

2.13 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
2.13.1 Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that 
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, 
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, 
and where observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears 
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For the loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit 
or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.13.2 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value, less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs 
of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model 
is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available 
fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared separately for each 
of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period 
of five years. For longer periods a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in expense categories consistent with the function of the 
impaired asset, except for a property previously revalued when the revaluation was taken to OCI. In this case the impairment is also 
recognised in OCI up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s 
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying 
amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.14 INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first in, first out method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.15 TRADE RECEIVAbLES
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection 
is expected in one year or less they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented under non-current assets as other financial 
assets. Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment.

2.16 CASh AND CASh EqUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. In the consolidated and separate statements of financial position and cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, net of 
bank overdrafts. In the statement of financial position bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

2.17 STATED CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.18 bORROwINGS
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs (under debt-raising fees) of the loan to the extent that it 
is probable that all of the facility will be drawn down.
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2.19 PROVISIONS

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount which are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The Group does not expect reimbursements on any of its provisions. 
The expense relating to a provision is presented in profit or loss.

2.20 TRADE PAYAbLES

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. 
Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

2.21 REVENUE

Revenue is represented by the oil sales made by the Group’s Cyprus subsidiary. Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the revenue 
received or receivable. The oil price is determined by the Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation.

Revenue from the sale of oil is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, which is considered 
to occur when title passes to the customer. This generally occurs when the product is physically transferred into a vessel or other delivery 
mechanism.

2.22 INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated 
future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or liability. Interest income is included under investment income in profit or loss.

2.23 DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Dividend income is included under investment income 
in profit or loss.

2.24 TAXATION

The tax expense comprises current (where applicable) and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised in OCI or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in OCI or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries 
where the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if they arise 
from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilised.
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Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income 
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are off-set when there is a legally enforceable right to off-set current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.25 ShARE-bASED PAYMENTS

Employees (including senior executives) of the Company receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions whereby 
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). The Group has no cash-settled share-based 
payment transactions.

Definitions

A vesting condition is a condition that determines whether the entity receives the service that entitles the counterparty to receive cash, 
other assets or equity instruments of the entity. A vesting condition is either a service condition or a performance condition. The Company’s 
vesting condition consists of a service condition.

A service condition requires the counterparty to complete a specified period of service to the entity. If the counterparty, regardless of the 
reason, ceases to provide service during the vesting period, the service condition is not satisfied.

Equity-settled transactions

Equity-settled transactions include share options granted to directors and employees of the Group and also include transactions that are 
equity-settled by the Group. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised on the grant date, together with a corresponding increase in 
other capital reserves in equity, over the period during which the performance and/or services are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised 
in employee benefit expenses for equity-settled transactions at each reporting period, reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired, and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The initial valuation of the expense at 
the grant date is not revalued and is credited to equity through profit or loss. On expiry of issued share options the value of the share options 
is transferred from the share-based payments reserve directly to retained earnings.

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the 
grant date. In estimating fair value the Group uses the most appropriate valuation model which is dependent on the terms and conditions of 
each grant. The estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model, including the expected life of the share 
option, volatility and dividend yield, and making assumptions about them. The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional 
share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings and headline earnings per share. Equity-settled transactions are detailed in note 14.

The Company also enters into equity-settled share-based payment arrangements with non-employees for services received. The cost of 
these transactions is recognised on the effective date of the transaction, with a corresponding increase in equity (stated capital). The cost 
is measured by reference to the value of the services received unless this cannot be determined reliably, in which case it is measured as the 
fair value of the equity instruments given up. Refer to note 26 for details on these transactions.

2.26 bORROwING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the 
period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.27 EMPLOYEE bENEFITS

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal 
or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating 
to employee service in the current and prior periods. Pension fund payments are ordinarily charged as an expense under “other operating 
expenses” as they fell due. The Group implemented a defined contribution plan on 1 April 2015.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months 
after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. These include salaries, paid annual leave, paid 
sick leave and bonuses. Short-term employee benefits are included under “other operating costs” in profit or loss.

The Group currently does not provide long-term employee benefits.

2.28 LEASES

Operating leases – lessee

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

3 SigniFicant accOunting JudgementS, eStimateS and aSSumPtiOnS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. The following are the critical judgements, key assumptions and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
29 February 2016 that may have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

3.1 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURES

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgement to determine whether it is 
likely that future economic benefits are likely, from either future exploitation or sale, or whether activities have not reached a stage which 
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. The determination of reserves and resources is itself an estimation process 
that requires varying degrees of uncertainty depending on how the resources are classified. These estimates directly impact on whether 
the Group capitalises exploration and evaluation expenditure. The capitalisation policy requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established. 
Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, information 
becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount is impaired in profit or loss in the 
period when the new information becomes available. Exploration and evaluation assets are detailed in note 15.

3.2 hYDROCARbON RESERVE AND RESOURCE ESTIMATES

Hydrocarbon reserves are estimates of the amount of hydrocarbons that can be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s oil and 
gas properties. The Group estimates its commercial reserves and resources based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons 
relating to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the hydrocarbon body, and suitable production techniques 
and recovery rates. Commercial reserves are determined using estimates of oil and gas in place, recovery factors and future commodity prices, 
the latter having an impact on the total amount of recoverable reserves and the proportion of the gross reserves which are attributable to the 
host government under the terms of the Production-Sharing Agreements. Future development costs are estimated using assumptions as to 
the number of wells required to produce the commercial reserves, the cost of such wells and associated production facilities, and other capital 
costs. The carrying amount of oil and gas development and production assets at 29 February 2016 is shown in note 16.

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016



SacOil Holdings Limited • ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS • 2016 25

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group estimates and reports hydrocarbon reserves in line with the principles contained in the SPE Petroleum Resources Management 
Reporting System (“PRMS”) framework. As the economic assumptions used may change and as additional geological information is obtained 
during the operation of a field, estimates of recoverable reserves may change. Such changes may impact the Group’s reported financial 
position and results, which include:

•	 	the	carrying	value	of	exploration	and	evaluation	assets,	oil	and	gas	properties,	and	goodwill	may	be	affected	due	to	changes	in	estimated	
future cash flows (note 16); and

•	 	depreciation	and	amortisation	charges	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	may	change	where	such	charges	are	determined	using	the	units-
of-production (“UOP”) method, or where the useful life of the related assets change (note 16).

3.3 UNITS-OF-PRODUCTION (UOP) DEPRECIATION OF OIL AND GAS ASSETS

Oil and gas properties are depreciated using the UOP method over total Proved developed and undeveloped hydrocarbon reserves. This results 
in a depreciation/amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining production from the field.

The life of each item, which is assessed at least annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and present assessments of economically 
recoverable reserves of the field at which the asset is located. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including 
the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates of future capital expenditure. The calculation of the UOP rate of depreciation/amortisation 
will be impacted to the extent that actual production in the future is different from current forecast production based on total Proved reserves, 
or future capital expenditure estimates change. Changes to Proved reserves could arise due to changes in the factors or assumptions used 
in estimating reserves, including:

•	 the	effect	on	Proved	reserves	of	differences	between	actual	commodity	prices	and	commodity	price	assumptions;	and

•	 unforeseen	operational	issues.

3.4 RECOVERAbILITY OF OIL AND GAS ASSETS

The Group assesses each asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) (excluding goodwill, which is assessed annually regardless of indicators) 
each reporting period to determine whether any indication of impairment exists. Where an indicator of impairment exists a formal estimate 
of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use 
(“VIU”). The assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term oil prices (considering current and historical prices, 
price trends and related factors, discount rates, operating costs, future capital requirements, decommissioning costs, exploration potential, 
reserves, hydrocarbon reserves and resource estimates above) and operating performance (which includes production and sales volumes). 
These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty. Therefore there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will impact 
these projections, which may impact the recoverable amount of assets and/or CGUs.

3.5 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

Judgement is required to determine when the Group has joint control over an arrangement, which requires an assessment of the relevant 
activities and when the decisions in relation to those activities require unanimous consent. The Group has determined that the relevant 
activities for its joint arrangements are those relating to the operating and capital decisions of the arrangement, such as approval of the capital 
expenditure programme for each year and appointing, remunerating and terminating the key management personnel or service providers 
of the joint arrangement. The considerations made in determining joint control are similar to those necessary to determine control over 
subsidiaries. Refer to note 2.2 for more detail.

Judgement is also required to classify a joint arrangement. Classifying the arrangement requires the Group to assess their rights and obligations 
arising from the arrangement. Specifically, the Group considers:

•	 the	structure	of	the	joint	arrangement	–	whether	it	is	structured	through	a	separate	vehicle;	and

•	 when	the	arrangement	is	structured	through	a	separate	vehicle,	the	Group	also	considers	the	rights	and	obligations	arising	from:

– the legal form of the separate vehicle;

– the terms of the contractual arrangement; and

– other facts and circumstances (when relevant).

This assessment often requires significant judgement, and a different conclusion on joint control and also whether the arrangement is a joint 
operation or a joint venture may materially impact the accounting.
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3.6 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RE-ESTIMATION OF CASh FLOwS ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. Where the fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, fair value is determined using valuation techniques 
including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not 
feasible a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, 
credit risk, volatility, commodity prices and foreign currency risk.

Estimates and assumptions are taken into account in the re-estimation of cash flows relating to financial instruments, including the 
determination of geological chances of success to make a commercial discovery, existing information on resources as well as success rates 
of discoveries in the vicinity of the location of the Group’s assets. Changes in these judgements, estimates and assumptions as a result of 
further production history and additional information could materially affect the reported fair value of financial assets and liabilities. Refers to 
notes 19 and 30.

The Group and Company make use of independent competent persons to evaluate and value its existing resources and reserves. Reports 
are prepared in accordance with standard geological and engineering methods generally accepted by the oil and gas industry, in particular 
the 2007 SPE Petroleum Resource Management System Guide.

3.7 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs 
of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, 
conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value-in-use 
calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next three years and do not include 
restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the 
CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well as the expected 
future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles 
with indefinite useful lives recognised by the Group. 

3.8 VALUATION OF ShARE-bASED PAYMENTS

The Group has a share option scheme in place. The fair value of awards under this scheme is determined at inception based on market 
conditions, discount rates, share price volatility and estimated forfeitures. The market conditions at inception may significantly differ from the 
eventual outcome.

3.9 CONTINGENCIES

By their nature contingencies will only be resolved when one or more uncertain future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment of the 
existence, and potential quantum, of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgement and the use of estimates regarding 
the outcome of future events. Contingencies are disclosed in note 38.

3.10 TAXES

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the amount and timing of future taxable 
income. Differences could arise between actual results and the assumptions made, thereby necessitating future adjustments to income taxes.

3.11 GOING CONCERN

Management’s assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern involves making a judgement, at a particular point in time, 
about inherently uncertain future outcomes of events or conditions. Any judgement about the future is based on information available at the 
time at which the judgement is made. Subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable 
at the time they were made.
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4 adOPtiOn OF new and ReviSed StandaRdS

3.12 RECEIVAbLE FROM ENChA ENERGY

Based on the recovery mechanisms available to the Company, under the provisions of the agreements with Encha, including the suretyship 
provided by Encha Group Limited, the Company is of the view that the amount owed by Encha is recoverable. Consequently no provision has 
been raised for the possible impairment of this receivable.

4.1 STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE FOR ThE 2016 FINANCIAL YEAR

The following amendments became effective for the 29 February 2016 year-end but did not have an impact on the results of the Group:

Topic key requirements Effective date

Annual 
improvements 2012

These annual improvements amend standards from the 2010 – 2012 reporting cycle. It includes 
changes to:

•	 	IFRS	3	–	Business	Combinations	and	clarifies	that	an	obligation	to	pay	contingent	consideration	
which meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as a financial liability or equity 
on the basis of the definitions in IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation. It also clarifies 
that all non-equity contingent consideration is measured at fair value at each reporting date, 
with changes in value recognised in profit and loss.

•	 	IAS	16	–	Property,	Plant	and	Equipment	and	IAS	38	–	Intangible	Assets	are	amended	to	clarify	
how the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are treated where an entity 
uses the revaluation model.

•	 	IAS	24	–	Related	Party	Disclosures	 is	amended	to	 include,	as	a	related	party,	an	entity	 that	
provides key management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the 
reporting entity (the “management entity”). Disclosure of the amounts charged to the reporting 
entity is required.

1 July 2014

Annual 
improvements 2013

These annual improvements amend standards from the 2011 – 2013 reporting cycle. It includes 
changes to:

•	 	IFRS	 3	 –	 Business	 Combinations	 is	 amended	 to	 clarify	 that	 IFRS	 3	 does	 not	 apply	 to	 the	
accounting for the formation of any joint venture under IFRS 11.

•	 	IFRS	13	–	Fair	Value	Measurement	is	amended	to	clarify	that	the	portfolio	exception	in	IFRS 13	
applies to all contracts (including non-financial contracts) within the scope of IAS 39 or 
IFRS 9. The amendment changes the manner is which contracts within the scope of IAS 39 or 
IFRS 9 that do not meet the definition of financial assets or financial liabilities are measured. 
These contracts can now be measured on a net basis.

•	 	IAS	40	–	Investment	Property	is	amended	to	clarify	that	IAS	40	and	IFRS	3	are	not	mutually	
exclusive. IAS 40 assists users to distinguish between investment property and owner-occupied 
property. Preparers also need to consider the guidance in IFRS 3 to determine whether the 
acquisition of an investment property is a business combination.

1 July 2014

IAS 19 – 
Amendments 
to IAS 19

The amendment applies to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit 
plans and clarifies the treatment of such contributions. The amendment distinguishes between 
contributions that are linked to service only in the period in which they arise and those linked to 
service in more than one period. The objective of the amendment is to simplify the accounting 
for contributions that are independent of the number of years of employee service, for example 
employee contributions that are calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. Entities with 
plans that require contributions that vary with service will be required to recognise the benefit of 
those contributions over employees’ working lives.

1 July 2014
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4.1 STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE FOR ThE 2016 FINANCIAL YEAR (continued)

The following amendments became effective for the 29 February 2016 year-end and impacted the results of the Group as described below:

Topic key requirements and impact on results Effective date

Annual 
improvements 2012

These annual improvements amend standards from the 2010 – 2012 reporting cycle. It includes 
changes to:

•	 	IFRS	 2	 –	 Share-based	 Payments	 and	 clarifies	 the	 definition	 of	 a	 “vesting	 condition”	 and	
separately defines “performance condition” and “service condition”. The amendment changes 
the service condition description to indicate that the service condition will not be met if the 
services are not provided for during the vesting period. This only applies to share-based 
payments for which the grant date is on or after 1 July 2014. Refer to disclosure in note 14.

•	 	IFRS	 8	 –	 Operating	 Segments	 which	 is	 amended	 to	 require	 disclosure	 of	 the	 judgements	
made by management in aggregating operating segments. It is also amended to require a 
reconciliation of segment assets to the entity’s assets when segment assets are reported. 
The amendment changes the manner in which disclosures are made regarding the judgements 
used in aggregating operating segments and to include a reconciliation of segment assets 
to the entity’s assets. Disclosures relating to this amendment are provided in note 5.

1 July 2014

4.2 STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS ISSUED bUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The following standards and amendments have been issued or revised and will become effective for later periods as indicated in the table 
below. These standards and amendments are not expected to have an impact on the results of the Group.

Topic key requirements Effective date

Amendments to 
IAS 1– Disclosure 
Initiative

The amendments aim at clarifying IAS 1 to address perceived impediments to preparers exercising 
their judgement in presenting their financial reports.

1 January 2016

Amendments to 
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 
and IAS 28 
– Investment 
Entities: Applying 
the Consolidation 
Exception

The amendments address issues that have arisen in the context of applying the consolidation 
exception for investment entities.

1 January 2016

Amendment to 
IFRS 11 – Joint 
Arrangements, 
regarding 
acquisition of an 
interest in a joint 
operation

This amendment provides new guidance on how to account for the acquisition of an interest in 
a joint venture operation that constitutes a business. The amendments require an investor to 
apply the principles of business combination accounting when it acquires an interest in a joint 
operation that constitutes a “business”. The amendments are applicable to both the acquisition 
of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of additional interest in the same 
joint operation. However, a previously held interest is not remeasured when the acquisition of an 
additional interest in the same joint operation results in retaining joint control.

1 January 2016
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Topic key requirements Effective date

Amendment to 
IAS 16 – Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment and 
IAS 38 – Intangible 
Assets, regarding 
depreciation and 
amortisation

This amendment clarifies that the use of revenue-based methods to calculate the depreciation 
of an asset is not appropriate because revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of 
an asset generally reflects factors other than the consumption of the economic benefits embodied 
in the asset.

This has also clarified that revenue is generally presumed to be an inappropriate basis for measuring 
the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in an intangible asset. The  presumption 
may only be rebutted in certain limited circumstances. These are where the intangible asset 
is expressed as a measure of revenue or where it can be demonstrated that revenue and 
the consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.

1 January 2016

Amendments to IAS 
16 – Property, Plant 
and Equipment and 
IAS 41 – Agriculture, 
regarding bearer 
plants

These amendments change the reporting for bearer plants, such as grapevines, rubber trees 
and oil palms. Bearer plants should be accounted for in the same way as property, plant and 
equipment because their operation is similar to that of manufacturing. The amendments include 
them in the scope of IAS 16 rather than IAS 41.

The produce on bearer plants will remain in the scope of IAS 41.

1 January 2016

Amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 
regarding the sale 
or contribution of 
assets between 
an investor and its 
associate or joint 
venture

These amendments address an inconsistency between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the sale 
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.

A full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss 
is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those 
assets are in a subsidiary.

Effective date 
is deferred until 
amendments are 
finalised

Amendment to 
IAS 27 – Separate 
Financial 
Statements, 
regarding the equity 
method

The amendment allows entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements.

1 January 2016

IFRS 14 – 
Regulatory Deferral 
Accounts

This standard permits first-time adopters of IFRS to continue to recognise amounts related to rate 
regulation in accordance with their previous GAAP requirements when they adopt IFRS. However, 
to enhance comparability with entities that already apply IFRS and do not recognise such amounts, 
the standard requires that the effect of rate regulation must be presented separately from other 
items.

1 January 2016

Annual 
improvements 2014

These annual improvements amend standards from the 2012 – 2014 reporting cycle. It includes 
changes to:

•	 	IFRS	 5	 –	 Non-current	 Assets	 Held	 for	 Sale	 and	 Discontinued	 Operations.	 The	 amendment	
clarifies that, when an asset (or disposal group) is reclassified from “held for sale” to “held for 
distribution”, or vice versa, this does not constitute a change to a plan of sale or distribution, 
and does not have to be accounted for as such. This means that the asset (or disposal group) 
does not need to be reinstated in the financial statements as if it had never been classified 
as “held for sale” or “held for distribution” simply because the manner of disposal has changed. 
The amendment also explains that the guidance on changes in a plan of sale should be applied 
to an asset (or disposal group) which ceases to be held for distribution but is not reclassified 
as “held for sale”.

1 January 2016
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4 adOPtiOn OF new and ReviSed StandaRdS (continued)

4.2 STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS ISSUED bUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Topic key requirements Effective date

Annual 
improvements 
2014 (continued)

•	 IFRS	7	–	Financial	instruments:	Disclosures.	There	are	two	amendments:

–  Servicing contracts – If an entity transfers a financial asset to a third party under conditions 
which allow the transferor to derecognise the asset, IFRS 7 requires disclosure of all types of 
continuing involvement that the entity might still have in the transferred assets. The standard 
provides guidance about what is meant by continuing involvement.

The amendment is prospective with an option to apply retrospectively. There is a 
consequential amendment to IFRS 1 to give the same relief to first-time adopters.

–  Interim financial statements – The amendment clarifies that the additional disclosure 
required by the amendments to IFRS 7 – Disclosure: Off-setting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities is not specifically required for all interim periods unless required by 
IAS 34. This amendment is retrospective.

1 January 2016

•	 	IAS	19	–	Emplyee	Benefits.	The	amendment	clarifies	that,	when	determining	the	discount	rate	
for post-employment benefit obligations, it is the currency that the liabilities are denominated 
in that is important, not the country where they arise. The assessment of whether there is a 
deep market in high-quality corporate bonds is based on corporate bonds in that currency, not 
corporate bonds in a particular country. Similarly, where there is no deep market in high-quality 
corporate bonds in that currency, government bonds in the relevant currency should be used. 
The amendment is retrospective but limited to the beginning of the earliest period presented.

1 January 2016

The following standards and amendments have been issued or revised and will become effective for later periods as indicated in the table 
below. These standards and amendments are expected to have an impact on the Group. Management is assessing the impact of these 
standards on the Group’s results. Management will also continue to assess the applicability of the other amendments.

Topic key requirements Effective date

Annual 
improvements 
2014

These annual improvements amend standards from the 2012 – 2014 reporting cycle. It includes 
changes to:

•	 	IAS	 34	 –	 Interim	 Financial	 Reporting.	 The	 amendment	 clarifies	 what	 is	 meant	 by	 the	
reference in the standard to “information disclosed elsewhere in the interim financial report”. 
The amendment also amends IAS 34 to require a cross-reference from the interim financial 
statements to the location of that information. The amendment is retrospective.

1 January 2016

Amendments to 
IAS 7 – Statement 
of Cash Flows, 
regarding the 
disclosure initiative

The amendments to IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows require an entity to provide disclosures 
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities. Included in this disclosure are both changes from cash flows and non-cash changes.

1 January 2017

Amendments to 
IAS 12 – Income 
Taxes, regarding 
the recognition of 
deferred tax assets 
for unrealised 
losses

The amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes clarifies the accounting for deferred tax assets for 
unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value. The entity needs to consider 
whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits against which it may make deductions 
on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. The amendments also provide guidance 
on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and under which circumstances taxable 
profit may include the recovery of some assets for more that their carrying amount.

1 January 2017
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Topic key requirements Effective date

IFRS 15 – Revenue 
from Contracts with 
Customers

This is the converged standard on revenue recognition. It replaces IAS 11 – Construction Contracts, 
IAS 18 – Revenue and related interpretations.

Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service. A customer obtains 
control when it has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits from the good or service. 
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue 
in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:

•	 Step	1:	Identify	the	contract(s)	with	a	customer.

•	 Step	2:	Identify	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract.

•	 Step	3:	Determine	the	transaction	price.

•	 Step	4:	Allocate	the	transaction	price	to	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract.

•	 Step	5:	Recognise	revenue	when	(or	as)	the	entity	satisfies	a	performance	obligation.

IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that will result in an entity providing 
users of financial statements with comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing 
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s contracts with customers.

1 January 2018

IFRS 9 – Financial 
Instruments

The complete version of IFRS 9 replaces most of the guidance in IAS 39. IFRS 9 retains but 
simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories 
for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value 
through profit or loss. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are 
required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception 
to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. There is now a new expected 
credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39.

For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the 
recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive income for liabilities designated 
at fair value through profit or loss.

IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge 
effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging 
instrument and for the “hedged ratio” to be the same as the one management actually uses for 
risk management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to 
that currently prepared under IAS 39.

1 January 2018

IFRS 16 – Leases IFRS 16 – Leases replaces the following standards and interpretations:

•	 IAS	17	–	Leases

•	 IFRIC	4	–	Determining	Whether	an	Arrangement	Contains	a	Lease

•	 SIC-15	–	Operating	Leases:	Incentives

•	 SIC-27	–	Evaluating	the	Substance	of	Transactions	Involving	the	Legal	Form	of	a	Lease

IFRS 16 – Leases requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet 
model. A lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments and an asset representing the 
right to use the asset unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a 
low value.

Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest and depreciation expense and 
remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events.

Lessors will continue to classify leases as operating or finance with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor 
accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17 – Leases.

1 January 2019
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5 Segmental RePORting

The Group operates in six geographical locations which form the basis of the information evaluated by its chief operating decision-maker. 
For management purposes the Group is organised and analysed by these locations. These locations are: South Africa, Egypt, Nigeria, DRC, Botswana 
and Malawi. Operations in South Africa relate to head office activities of the Group that include the general management, financing and administration 
of the Group.

GROUP
Egypt
R’000

Nigeria
R’000

DRC
R’000

Malawi
R’000

Botswana
R’000

South Africa
R’000

Eliminations
R’000

Consolidated
R’000

2016
Revenue 4 746 – – – – – –  4 746 
Cost of sales (15 286) – – – – – –  (15 286)
Gross loss  (10 540) – – – – – –  (10 540)
Other income – 52 496 106 026 – – 136 554 (36 837)  258 239 
Investment income – 383 26 426 – – 19 935 –  46 744 
Finance costs – – – – – (4) –  (4)
Other operating expenses (98 158) (31 327) (28 975) – (2 711) (70 095) 36 837  (194 429)
Taxation – – (65 706) – – 5 284 –  (60 422)
Profit/(loss) for the year  (108 698)  21 552  37 771 –  (2 711)  91 674  –  39 588 

Segment assets – non-current 223 440 – 246 884 259 146 263 949 (204 954) 529 724 
 assets – current 28 791 152 916 32 – 2 321 488 – 503 229 

Segment liabilities – non-current (117 297) – (162 794) – (3 389) – 204 954  (78 526)
  – current (6 321) (281) – – – (28 611) –  (35 213)

2015
Revenue 2 095 – – – – – –  2 095 
Cost of sales (3 225) – – – – – –  (3 225)
Gross loss  (1 130) – – – – – –  (1 130)
Other income – 31 384 6 993 – 6 87 757 (22 806)  103 334 
Investment income – 29 595 22 486 – – 117 455 (11 484)  158 052 
Finance costs – – (1) – – – –  (1)
Other operating expenses (8 182) (13 265) (23 775) – (500) (478 067) 13 683  (510 106)
Taxation – – (30 117) – – 2 939 –  (27 178)
(Loss)/profit for the year  (9 312)  47 714  (24 414) –  (494)  (269 916)  (20 607)  (277 029)

Segment assets – non-current 203 074 – 312 042 1 197 387 238 163 (148 851) 606 012
  – current 17 852 226 456 41 776 – 1 288 782 – 574 867 

Segment liabilities – non-current (19 315) (59 294) (165 312) – – (2 076) 148 851 (97 146)
 – current (6 457) (57 917) (171 582) – – (59 904) –  (295 860)

bUSINESS SEGMENTS
The operations of the Group comprise of one class of business, being oil and gas exploration and production. The activities undertaken in Mozambique 
and Equatorial Guinea related to the Mozambican pipeline and the development of the Bioko Terminal, respectively, are not significant at this stage 
and have not been separately disclosed. These activities therefore do not meet the recognition criteria for operating segments.

REVENUE
The Group’s reported revenue is generated from one customer, the Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (“EGPC”), with respect to oil sales. 
This revenue is attributed to the Egypt segment.

TAXATION – EGYPT
No income or deferred tax has been accrued by Mena as the Concession Agreement between the EGPC, the Ministry of Petroleum and Mena provides 
that the EGPC is responsible for the settlement of income tax on behalf of Mena, out of the EGPC’s share of petroleum produced. The Group has 
elected the net presentation approach in accounting for this deemed income tax. Under this approach Mena’s revenue is not grossed up for income 
tax payable by the EGPC on behalf of Mena. Consequently, no income or deferred tax is accrued.
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GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

6 PROFit/(lOSS) FROm OPeRatiOnS

Profit/(loss) from operations for the year is stated after

accounting for the following income/(expense) items:

Impairment of financial assets (26 083) (96 975) – (436 535)

Impairment of non-current asset held for sale 25 – (194 066) – –

Impairment of oil and gas properties 39 (56 849) – – –

Impairment of other intangible assets 39 (19 659) – – –

Gain on acquisition of subsidiary 12 – 24 718 – –

Foreign exchange gains 154 603 78 616 78 578 58 641

Management fees (charged to subsidiaries) 34 – – 5 607 2 199

Provision for impairment of financial assets – (87 476) – (83 331)

Payment of past Semliki SARL costs (2 333) – – –

Gain on reorganisation of interest in Block III 13 103 624 – 22 117 –

Impairment of SacOil Holdings Nigeria Limited loan – – (1 612) –

Reversal of Nigdel liability 25 – – 30 241 –

Corporate costs (4 638) (3 727) (4 608) (3 727)

External auditors’ remuneration (2 666) (4 263) (2 108) 4 263)

Audit fees – current reporting period (1 796) (1 373) (1 796) (1 373)

 – prior-year underprovision – (186) – (186)

Other services (870) (2 704) (312) (2 704)

Internal auditors’ remuneration (326) – (326) –

Employee benefit expense 10 (34 034) (26 465) (28 443) (26 465)

Accounting fees (25) (64) (25) (64)

Acquisition costs (excluding fees paid to auditors for 
other services) – (7 529) – (7 529)

Consulting fees (6 133) (2 893) (6 076) (2 393)

Legal fees (4 948) (2 429) (4 948) (2 429)

Business development (7 140) – (7 140) –

Travel and accommodation (4 702) (3 798) (4 702) (3 798)

Bad debts written off – (65 433) – (65 433)

Depreciation and amortisation (10 918) (2 372) (1 444) (244)

Oil and gas properties 16 (2 268) (275) – –

Property, plant and equipment 20 (326) (138) (326) (138)

Exploration and evaluation assets 15 (2 051) – (938) –

Other intangible assets 21 (6 273) (1 959) (180) (106)

Rentals – premises (3 284) (1 626) (2 072) (1 626)

Broker fees (788) (895) (788) (895)

Share-based payment expense 14 (896) (888) (896) (888)
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GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

7 inveStment incOme

Interest received – loans – 92 334 – 92 334

 – Transcorp – 29 595 – –

 – group companies 34 – – – 11 484

 – cash and cash equivalents 8 756 6 962 8 373 6 961

Interest on other financial assets 37 988 29 161 11 562 6 676

46 744 158 052 19 935 117 455

8 Finance cOStS

Interest paid to suppliers 4 – 4  – 

Interest paid to financial institutions – 1 – –

4 1 4 –

9 taxatiOn

Major components of the tax expense are detailed below:

Current

Current tax – 1 114 – 1 114

Foreign taxes1 3 208 – 3 208 –

Foreign estimated penalties (29 137) (23 644) – –

(25 929) (22 530) 3 208 1 114

Deferred

Relating to the origination and reversal of temporary 
differences 29 (34 493) (4 648) 2 076 1 825

(60 422) (27 178) 5 284 2 939

Reconciliation of the tax expense:

Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average 
effective tax rate % % % %

Applicable tax rate 28.00 28.00  28.00 28.00

Permanent differences 43.22 11.46 (0.32) (0.16)

Foreign taxes – subsidiaries 18.40 (2.51)  – –

Deferred tax asset not recognised  (23.92) (48.37)  (27.68) (27.83)

Prior-year underprovision  (5.28) 1.12  (6.12) 0.64

Average effective tax rate 60.42 (10.30)  (6.12) 0.65

1  Reversal of a provision created for withholding tax on management fees accrued for but subsequently written off following the Group’s termination of its participation 
in OPL 233 and OPL 281. SacOil would have been responsible for the settlement of the taxes hence the accrual of the taxes at Company level.

The Company’s tax losses in the current year for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised amount to R83.7 million (2015: R425.0 million).

These losses do not expire by the effluxion of time.

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016
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2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

10 emPlOYee beneFit exPenSe

Salaries and wages 33 387 26 465 27 796 26 465

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 647 – 647 –

Total  34 034  26 465  28 443  26 465 

GROUP

Gross
R’000

Tax
R’000

Net
R’000

11 OtHeR cOmPReHenSive incOme

Components of other comprehensive income – 2016

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 61 460 – 61 460

Components of other comprehensive income – 2015

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 8 717 – 8 717

12 buSineSS cOmbinatiOnS
2015
MENA INTERNATIONAL PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED
On 22 October 2014 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Cyprus-registered exploration and production company, Mena International 
Petroleum Company Limited (“Mena”), which holds a 100% interest in the development lease for the Lagia Oil Field, covering an area of approximately 
32 square kilometres on the Sinai Peninsula in Egypt. Mena was acquired to grow and balance the Group’s existing portfolio of assets by adding 
reserves and production. As a result of the acquisition the Group now generates revenue from an oil-producing asset and operates in a new 
geographical location.

The Group issued 183 666 947 SacOil ordinary shares as part consideration for the acquisition of Mena. The fair value of the shares was based on 
the published share price of SacOil shares on 22 October 2014, which was 58 cents. The resulting value of the shares issued was R106 526 829 
($10.0 million). The Group further paid a cash consideration of R45 200 315 ($4.1 million) as share capital in Mena to settle outstanding liabilities. 
The fair value of the consideration transferred was therefore R151 727 144.
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12 buSineSS cOmbinatiOnS (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Mena as at the date of acquisition were:

Fair value recognised 
on acquisition

R’000

Oil and gas properties (note 16) 110 063

Other intangible assets (note 21) 59 668

Inventories 6 025

Trade and other receivables 43 507

Cash and cash equivalents 660

Total identifiable assets at fair value  219 923 

Borrowings (20 461)

Trade and other payables (23 017)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value  176 445 

Gain on bargain purchase (24 718)

Total consideration transferred 151 727

The net assets recognised in the 28 February 2015 financial statements were based on a provisional assessment of their fair value as the Group 
sought an independent valuation for the oil and gas properties and other intangible assets owned by Mena. The valuation had not been completed 
by the date the 2015 financial statements were approved for issue by the Board. The valuation was subsequently completed during the year with no 
change in the fair values previously assigned to the oil and gas properties and other intangible assets.

The fair value of trade and other receivables was R43.5 million, which represented the gross contractual amounts receivable. None of the trade and 
other receivabes were impaired at the acquisition date as it was expected that the full contractual amounts would be collected. These receivables 
were subsequently collected as at the date of the 2015 financial statements.

A gain on acquisition of Mena of R24.7 million was recognised in “other income” in profit or loss in the 28 February 2015 financial statements.

From 22 October 2014 to 28 February 2015 Mena contributed R2.1 million to Group revenue and R8.6 million to Group loss. If the acquisition of Mena 
had taken place on 1 March 2014 Group revenue for the 2015 financial year would have been R2.8 million and Mena would have contributed a profit 
of R97.6 million to the Group results, thereby reducing the Group loss to R163.8 million.

Acquisition-related costs of R8.7 million were charged to “other operating costs” in profit or loss in the prior year. The fair value of the other intangible 
assets gave rise to the gain on acquisition as the price paid for the reserves was considered below the current market price at the time.

GROUP  COMPANY 

2015
R’000

2015
R’000

The cash outflow at acquisition was as follows:

Cash paid 45 200 45 200

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (660) –

Net cash outflow 44 540 45 200 

No income or deferred tax has been accrued by Mena as the Concession Agreement between the EGPC, the Ministry of Petroleum and Mena provides 
that the EGPC is responsible for the settlement of income tax on behalf of Mena, out of the EGPC’s share of petroleum produced. The Group has 
elected the net presentation approach in accounting for this deemed income tax. Under this approach Mena’s revenue is not grossed up for income 
tax payable by the EGPC on behalf of Mena. Consequently no income or deferred tax is accrued.
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13 ReORganiSatiOn OF inteReSt in blOcK iii
2016
background
Prior to the reorganisation Semliki SARL (“Semliki”) had a direct 18.3% participating interest in Block III in the DRC alongside partners Total E&P RDC 
(66.7%) (“Total”) and the DRC Government (15%). Semliki was 68% directly owned by RDK Mining Proprietary Limited (“RDK”), with the remaining 
32% held by Divine Inspiration Group Proprietary Limited (“DIG”). RDK is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SacOil.

Reorganisation
During the year SacOil initiated a process to reorganise the holding of its indirect interest in Block III (“the Interest”). The transaction agreements 
implementing the reorganisation were concluded on 29 February 2016. This resulted in the disposal of the Group’s shareholding in Semliki for $1 
(R16) and the incorporation of SacOil DRC SARL (“SacOil DRC”), in which RDK owns 100% of the issued shares. The effect of the reorganisation 
is the transfer of the Group’s share of assets and liabilities (including the Interest), previously owned in Semliki, to SacOil DRC, pursuant to various 
agreements with DIG. This reorganisation now enables SacOil to represent its interest in Block III directly and to have a direct line of sight of the 
activities of the block. 

The following table summarises the impact of the reorganisation on the results of the Group measured at the carrying amount of the assets and 
liabilities disposed or transferred:

GROUP  COMPANY 

Notes
2016

R’000
2016

R’000
Disposal of Semliki:
Exploration and evaluation assets 15 (74 366) –
Contingent consideration (329 097) –
Loan due from DIG (57 729) –
Cash and cash equivalents (107) –
Non-controlling interest (29 397) –
Deferred tax liability 131 639 –
Loans from Group companies 84 268 –
Current tax payable 272 206 –
Total identifiable net liabilities disposed at carrying amount  (2 583) –

Plus: Transfer of assets and liabilities to SacOil DRC: 
Exploration and evaluation assets 15 50 569 –
Contingent consideration 196 315 –
Deferred tax liability (78 526) –
Loans from Group companies (84 268) –
Total identifiable net assets recognised  84 090  – 

Plus: Impact of the reorganisation on SacOil’s assets and liabilities1: 
Other financial assets (12 190) (12 190)
Current tax payable 34 307 34 307
Net identifiable liabilities derecognised at carrying amount 22 117 22 117

Total impact of the reorganisation 103 624 22 117
Total gain on reorganisation of Interest (103 624) (22 117)
Total consideration transferred2 – –

1  DIG has indemnified the Group and Company of tax obligations pertaining to the farm-out of a portion of Block III to Total in March 2011 and March 2012 which has 
resulted in the derecognition of current tax payable. Consequently, the asset previously recognised to reflect the recovery of taxes payable by the Group and Company 
from DIG, under this indemnity, has simultaneously been derecognised. 

2  Amount less than R1 000.

The gain on reorganisation of R103.6 million (R22.1 million for the Company) has been recognised in “other income” in profit or loss. 
GROUP  COMPANY 

2016
R’000

2016
R’000

The cash outflow on reorganisation is as follows:
Cash received – –
Net cash retained in Semliki 107 –
Net cash outflow 107 –
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14 SHaRe-baSed PaYmentS

The Group operates a share option scheme for directors and employees of the Group. Options are granted at the discretion of the Board taking into 
account various factors that promote improved performance within the Group. Options are issued at the 15-day volume weighted average price per 
share on the JSE on the grant date. The options expire after 10 years if they remain unexercised and are forfeited if the director or employee leaves 
the Group, except at the discretion of the Board. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the share options in cash. 
Details of share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

weighted average  
exercise price

Number of  
share options

Share-based payment  
reserve (note 26)

GROUP AND COMPANY
2016

R
2015

R
2016
000’s

2015
000’s

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

At 1 March  0.57  0.68  27 530  11 530 6 890 6 002

Issued during the year  0.23  0.49  4 833  16 000 896 888

At 28/29 February  0.52  0.57  32 363  27 530  7 786  6 890 

Exercisable at 28/29 February  21 093  16 605 

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Number of share options

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise price

R
2016
000’s

2015
000’s

21 November 2008 20 November 2018 0.82  8 397  8 397 

8 July 2010 7 July 2020 0.29  3 133  3 133 

20 June 2014 19 June 2024 0.53  10 150  10 150 

2 December 2014 1 December 2025 0.42  5 850  5 850 

10 June 2015 9 June 2026 0.23  4 833 –

 32 363  27 530 

The fair value of the options issued during the period was determined using the binomial option pricing model. The significant inputs into the model 
were the exercise price shown above, volatility of 85.51%, dividend yield of 0%, an expected option life of 10 years and spot price of R0.25. The risk-
free interest rates were taken from the swap curve as at the valuation date. The vesting condition under the share option scheme is for employees 
to remain in service.

There were no equity-settled transactions in the current year. Equity-settled transactions in the prior year are detailed in note 26.
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GROUP

2016 2015

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying
value
R’000

15 exPlORatiOn and evaluatiOn aSSetS

Exploration and evaluation assets 53 026 (2 051) 50 975 75 950 – 75 950

Reconciliation of exploration and evaluation assets 

Opening
 balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Disposals

R’000
Amortisation

R’000
Total

R’000

2016

Block III DRC 74 366 50 569 (74 366) – 50 569

Block 1 Malawi 1 197 – – (938) 259

Botswana 387 873 – (1 113) 147

75 950 51 442 (74 366) (2 051) 50 975

2015

Block III DRC 74 366 – – – 74 366

OPL 281 Nigeria 44 073 – (44 073) – –

OPL 233 Nigeria 147 087 68 819 (215 906) – –

Block 1 Malawi 897 300 – – 1 197

Botswana 387 – – – 387

266 810 69 119 (259 979) – 75 950

COMPANY

2016 2015

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000

Carrying
 value
R’000

Cost
R’000

Accumulated
amortisation

R’000
Carrying value

R’000

Exploration and evaluation assets 1 197 (938) 259 1 197 –  1 197 

Reconciliation of exploration and evaluation assets 

Opening 
balance

R’000
Additions

R’000
Amortisation

R’000
Total

R’000

2016

Block 1 Malawi 1 197 – (938) 259

1 197 – (938) 259

2015

Block 1 Malawi 897 300 – 1 197

897 300 – 1 197
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15 exPlORatiOn and evaluatiOn aSSetS (continued)

bLOCk III
The recognition and derecognition of exploration expenditures is reflective of the reorganisation of the holding of the Group’s interest in the block as 
detailed in note 13. There was no activity on the block in the prior year.

OPL 281
No exploration expenditures were capitalised during the year as SacOil terminated its participation with Transnational Corporation Nigeria Plc 
(“Transcorp”) in OPL 281 in the prior year (2015: RNil). The Farm-in Agreement with Transcorp has an exit clause which provides that SacOil’s wholly-
owned subsidiary, SacOil 281 Nigeria, can recover from Transcorp costs incurred up to termination date, in the event that title is not obtained within 
the agreed time frame. OPL 281 was therefore reclassified as a receivable and the carrying amount of R44.1 million was included in the Transcorp 
Refund (which includes interest), as disclosed in note 19.

OPL 233

No exploration expenditures were capitalised during the current financial year as the Group terminated its participation in OPL 233 in May 2015 
(2015: R68.8 million).

In the prior year exploration expenditures totalling R215.9 million were derecognised following SacOil’s decision to begin a process of terminating 
its participation in OPL 233 on 27 February 2015. The asset was recognised as held for sale in the prior year and derecognised in the current year 
as disclosed in note 25.

bOTSwANA

As at 29 February 2016, R0.9 million (2015: RNil) of exploration expenditures have been capitalised for the year. During the year R1.1 million 
(2015: RNil) relating to licence costs was amortised in line with the Group’s policy. The amortisation has been recognised under other operating costs 
in profit or loss.

MALAwI

As at 29 February 2016 no exploration expenditures (2015: R0.3 million) have been capitalised for the year. During the year R0.9 million (2015: RNil) 
relating to licence costs was amortised in line with the Group’s policy. The amortisation has been recognised under other operating costs in profit 
or loss.

GROUP

Total
R’000

16 Oil and gaS PROPeRtieS

Cost

At 1 March 2014 –

Acquisition of Mena (note 12) 110 063

Additions 7 270

Translation of foreign operations 5 812

At 28 February 2015  123 145 

At 1 March 2015  123 145 

Additions 55 444

Translation of foreign operations 46 833

At 29 February 2016  225 422 

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016



SacOil Holdings Limited • ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS • 2016 41

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GROUP
Total

R’000

Depletion and impairment
At 1 March 2014 –

Depletion (275)

At 28 February 2015  (275)

At 1 March 2015  (275)
Impairment (note 39) (56 849)
Depletion (2 268)
At 29 February 2016  (59 392)

Net book value
At 28 February 2014 –

At 28 February 2015 122 870

At 29 February 2016  166 030 

The depletion charge for 2016 represents a full year of depletion of the oil and gas properties. The depletion charge for 2015 represents the portion 
since the acquisition of the oil and gas properties in October 2014.

Details pertaining to the impairment charge are provided in note 39.

17 inveStmentS in SubSidiaRieS
A list of all the investments in subsidiaries, including the name, percentage interest and country of registration, is given below:

% holding Carrying amount

Name of company
Country of 
registration 2016 2015

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Directly held:

SacOil Proprietary Limited RSA 100 50 19 818 19 818

Pioneer Coal Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 318 318

Baltimore Manganese Mine Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 1 1

RDK Mining Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 24 591 24 591

Bushveld Pioneer Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 1 1

Transfer Holdings (Proprietary) Limited Botswana 100 100 3 3

SacOil Holdings Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100 100 1 1

SacOil 281 Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100 100 1 1

SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100 100 1 1

Mena International Petroleum Company Limited Cyprus 100 100 151 725 151 725

196 460 196 460

Indirectly held:

Semliki SARL1 DRC  – 68 – 24 591

SacOil DRC SARL2 DRC 100  – 30 –

1 On 29 February 2016 the Group disposed of Semliki SARL as detailed in note 13.
2 During the year RDK Mining Proprietary Limited incorporated a new subsidiary, SacOil DRC SARL, pursuant to the reorganisation detailed in note 13 .

All entities within the Group are consolidated. There are no unconsolidated structured entities. Refer to note 27 for disclosures relating to non-
controlling interests for the prior year.
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

18 lOanS tO/(FROm) gROuP cOmPanieS

Loans to group companies

SacOil Holdings Nigeria Limited1 – – – 1 406

SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited2 – – – 57 889

Semliki SARL3 – – – 28 957

SacOil DRC SARL3 – – 42 983 –

Mena International Petroleum Company Limited3 – – 117 298 19 305

Baltimore Manganese Mine Proprietary Limited4 – – – –

Bushveld Pioneer Proprietary Limited4 – – – –

RDK Mining Proprietary Limited4 – – 30 –

Transfer Holdings Proprietary Limited5 – – 3 389 919

– – 163 700 108 476

Loan from Group company

Pioneer Coal Proprietary Limited4 – – (318) (318)

– – 163 382 108 158

1  The loan has been written off in the current financial year due to the entity’s activities being terminated in line with a shift in the Group’s strategy to focus on cash-
generative assets. The loan related to business development activities.

2  This loan was repaid from SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited’s share of the $10.0 million received by the Group on 5 June 2015 following the expiry of the performance bond 
and the Group’s termination of its participation in OPL 233 (refer to note 24).

3  These loans are interest free, unsecured and have no fixed repayment terms. These loans are denominated in US Dollars. On 29 February 2016 the Semliki SARL loan 
was transferred to SacOil DRC SARL as part of the reorganisation detailed in note 13.

4  These loans are interest free, unsecured and have no fixed repayment terms. The loans are denominated in Rands.
5  This loan is interest free, unsecured and has no fixed repayment terms. The loan is denominated in Pula.

The loans are payable on demand. All loans are, however, not expected to be repaid within 12 months.

The fair values of loans to and from Group companies are provided in note 35. 

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016



SacOil Holdings Limited • ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS • 2016 43

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

19 OtHeR Financial aSSetS

Non-current

Deferred consideration on disposal of Greenhills Plant1 – 1 718 – 1 718

Advance payment against future services2 – 68 627 – 68 627

Loan due from EERNL3 57 484 37 732 57 484 37 732

Contingent consideration4 196 315 237 676 – –

253 799 345 753 57 484 108 077

Current

Loan due from EERNL3 173 571 183 243 173 571 183 243

Loan due from DIG5 – 51 037 – 9 340

Transcorp Refund6 305 764 220 824 152 882 110 411

Advance payment against future services2 75 490 – 75 490 –

Deferred consideration on disposal of Greenhills Plant1 1 891 1 891 1 891 1 891

556 716 456 995 403 834 304 885

Less: Provision for impairment3 (173 571) (125 354) (173 571) (125 354)

383 145 331 641 230 263 179 531

636 944 677 394 287 747 287 608

1   The last instalment of R2.0 million of the deferred consideration, due in October 2016, has been reclassified as short term. The present value of this future receivable 
is R1.9 million.

2   The amount due represents Encha Energy’s indebtedness to SacOil Holdings Limited under the Acknowledgement of Debt Agreement concluded between the 
two parties on 28 February 2013. The financial asset recognised at 29 February 2016 is R75.5 million (2015: R68.6 million) representing the present value of this 
receivable. Interest amounting to R6.9 million (2015: R6.3 million) arising from the unwinding of the discount applied to the future receivable on initial recognition 
has been included in investment income (note 7). The receivable was due on 29 February 2016 and has been classified as short term. Refer to note 37 for further 
details on this loan.

3   At 29 February 2016, the long-term loan receivable of R57.5 million (2015: R37.7 million) represents the present value of future amounts (R80.2 million 
(2015: R57.9 million) ($5 million)) due from EERNL, to be recovered from its share of OML 113’s cash flows expected in 2019 and 2020. Interest amounting to 
R4.4 million (2015: RNil million) arising from the unwinding of the discount applied to the future receivable on initial recognition has been included in investment 
income in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains totalling R15.4 million (2015: R13.0 million) have been recognised in other income in profit or loss in relation to this 
long-term loan.

  During the year EERNL repaid $5.0 million of the short-term loan from its share of the cash collateral (see note 24). The remainder of the loan is expected to 
be recovered within a year from recoveries from Nigdel pursuant to the termination of EERNL’s and SacOil’s participation in OPL 233. The recovery from Nigdel 
of R173.6 million (2015: R125.4 million) has been provided for pending the finalisation of arbitration proceedings. The increase in the impairment provision of 
R48.2 million is attributable to foreign exchange losses as the amount provided for is denominated in US Dollars. 

  SacOil agreed to an interest freeze on the outstanding loans from 30 November 2014. The loans are denominated in US Dollars. 
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19 OtHeR Financial aSSetS (continued)
4  The Farm-In Agreement (“FIA”) between Semliki and Total provides for a cash payment by Total to Semliki upon the occurrence of certain future events (“contingent 

consideration”). As there is a contractual right to receive cash from Total, Semliki has historically recognised a financial asset in its statement of financial position. 
The asset was initially recognised at its fair value. Subsequently, the financial asset meets the definition of a loan and receivable, and is accounted for at amortised 
cost taking into account interest revenue and currency movements. At each reporting date SacOil revises its estimate of receipts from the financial asset in line with 
the requirements of IAS 39. Included in the statement of comprehensive income at 29 February 2016 is an impairment loss of R26.1 million (2015: R23.8 million) 
representing the write-down of future expected cash flows from the contingent consideration for the Block III farm-outs in March 2011 and March 2012. The write-
down which is reflective of the time value of money arose as a result of the delays in activities on Block III due to civil unrest in the area and in obtaining an extension 
on the operating licence. The extension has however now been granted. Consequently this defers the receipt of the contingent consideration by a year. A deferred 
tax charge amounting to R36.6 million (2015: R6.5 million) was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. At 29 February 2016 SacOil’s rights to the 
contingent consideration, previously held through Semliki, were transferred to SacOil DRC SARL in line with the reorganisation described in note 13. The assumptions 
used to measure the contingent consideration are detailed below:

Probability of exploration success (single well) 26%

Probability of at least one success from two wells 45%

Probability of successful completion given exploration success 89%

Discount rate 10%

First Investment Decision Date (“FID”) 28 February 2021

First Oil Date (“FOD”) 28 February 2025

Valuation date 29 February 2016

Contingent consideration

FID $29 000 000

FOD $25 000 000

  Should the probability factors applied to the valuation model be increased or decreased by 10%, all other variables held constant, post-tax loss would have been 
R45.5 million (2015: R55.2 million) lower and R45.5 million (2015: R55.2) million higher, respectively.

5  The loan comprised the taxes recoverable from DIG with respect to the capital gains tax payable by Semliki on the farm-out of the 6.67% interest in Block III in 
March 2012, which transaction was initiated by and solely benefited DIG. The loan was interest free, unsecured, had no fixed repayment terms and was denominated 
in US Dollars. On 29 February 2016 the Group completed the restructuring of its holding in Block III as detailed in note 13, which resulted in the elimination of its 
obligations relating to these foreign taxes. Consequently the asset previously recognised to reflect the recovery of taxes payable by the Group from DIG has been 
derecognised. 

6  The Transcorp Refund represents amounts recoverable from Transcorp under the provisions of the Farm-in Agreement (“FIA”), following the termination of SacOil 281’s 
participation in OPL 281. SacOil paid R44.1 million ($6.25 million) on behalf of its subsidiary, SacOil 281, and R43.6 million ($6.25 million) on behalf of EER 233 Nigeria 
Limited for a signature bonus and other costs relating to OPL 281, which contractually will be refunded by Transcorp with interest, on the signature bonus component, 
at 20% per annum. The FIA provides for the accrual of interest between the date of payment of these amounts and the date of exit from the asset, being 3 December 
2014. As such there is no interest accrued in the current year. Under the terms of the settlement agreement concluded with EERNL in 2015, EERNL ceded its share of 
the refund as settlement of the OPL 281 loan owed to SacOil. 

  At 29 February 2016 the Company receivable of R152.9 million (2015: R110. 4 million) with respect to the above transactions represents SacOil’s entitlement to 
EERNL’s share of the Transcorp Refund. The Group receivable of R305.8 million (2015: R220.8 million) further includes SacOil 281’s share of the refund. Pursuant to 
the exit SacOil will not have future commitments and obligations associated with the appraisal of OPL 281. 

The fair value of other financial assets is given in note 35.

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016
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GROUP AND COMPANY

Furniture and
fittings
R’000

Motor
vehicles

R’000

Computer
equipment

R’000
Total

R’000

20 PROPeRtY, Plant and equiPment

Cost

At 1 March 2014 138 119 330 587

Additions 7 – 227 234

At 28 February 2015 145 119 557 821

At 1 March 2015 145 119 557 821

Additions 464 429 170 1 063

Write-off of asset – – (5) (5)

At 29 February 2016 609 548 722 1 879

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 March 2014 56 75 209 340

Depreciation 24 30 84 138

At 28 February 2015 80 105 293 478

At 1 March 2015 80 105 293 478

Depreciation 80 109 137 326

At 29 February 2016  160  214  430  804 

Net book value

At 28 February 2014  82  44  121  247 

At 28 February 2015  65  14  264  343 

At 29 February 2016  449  334  292  1 075 

Based on the assessment done at 29 February 2016 there is no change in the useful lives of the assets above. No assets are held as security for 
the Group’s borrowings.
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GROUP
Computer 
software

R’000

Other intangible
 assets
R’000

Total
R’000

21 OtHeR intangible aSSetS
Cost
At 28 February 2014 272 – 272
Additions 136 – 136
Acquisition of Mena (note 12) – 59 668 59 668
Translation of foreign operations – 3 075 3 075
At 28 February 2015  408  62 743  63 151 
Additions 409 – 409
Translation of foreign operations – 22 272 22 272
At 29 February 2016  817  85 015  85 832 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 28 February 2014 (96) – (96)
Amortisation (106) (1 853) (1 959)
At 28 February 2015  (202)  (1 853)  (2 055)
Impairment (note 39) – (19 659) (19 659)
Amortisation (179) (6 094) (6 273)
At 29 February 2016  (381)  (27 606)  (27 987)

At 28 February 2014 176 – 176

At 28 February 2015  206  60 890  61 096 

At 29 February 2016  436  57 409  57 845 

The Group’s other intangible assets arose from the acquisition of Mena (note 12) in the prior year. Mena owns the Lagia Oil Field. The Petroleum 
Concession Agreement gives Mena the right to drill for petroleum reserves. 

Details pertaining to the impairment charge are provided in note 39.
COMPANY
Computer 
software

R’000
Cost
At 28 February 2014 272
Additions 136
At 28 February 2015  408 
Additions 409
At 29 February 2016  817 

Accumulated depreciation
At 28 February 2014 (96)
Amortisation (106)
At 28 February 2015  (202)
Amortisation  (180)
At 29 February 2016  (382)

At 28 February 2014 175

At 28 February 2015  206 

At 29 February 2016  435

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

22 inventORieS

Consumables 9 330 6 642 – –

 9 330  6 642  –  – 

23 tRade and OtHeR ReceivableS

Trade receivables 2 173 1 939 – –

Value-added tax 453 257 419 224

Other receivables 4 104 8 282 3 941 3 585

6 730 10 478 4 360 3 809

Less: Provision for impairment (3 325) (3 325) (3 325) (3 325)

3 405 7 153 1 035 484

At 29 February 2016 other receivables include an amount of 
R3.3 million (2015: R3.3 million) relating to employee taxes 
recoverable from a former employee of the Company. A provision 
for impairment has been recognised for this receivable pending 
the outcome of a legal recovery process.

At 29 February 2016 all trade receivables are fully performing. 
The carrying values of all trade and other receivables approximate 
their fair values (note 35). The carrying values of the Group’s trade 
and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

US Dollar 2 334 6 644 – –

South African Rand 1 071 509 1 035 484

 3 405  7 153 1 035 484

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of trade and other receivables mentioned above. 
The Group does not hold collateral as security for trade receivables.

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

24 caSH and caSH equivalentS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash at banks and on hand 23 810 6 708 6 532 1 930

Short-term deposits 83 539 106 711 83 539 106 711

107 349 113 419 90 071 108 641

Restricted cash – 116 012 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 107 349 229 431 90 071 108 641

The restricted cash of $10.0 million was received by the Group on 5 June 2015 following the expiry of the performance bond and the Group’s 
termination of its participation in OPL 233. Half of the US$10 million receipt was treated as a part repayment of EERNL’s outstanding loan related to 
OPL 233 (refer to note 19). The remaining amount was treated as a repayment of the loan advanced to SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited in connection with 
the OPL 233 activities (refer to note 18).
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25 nOn-cuRRent aSSetS Held FOR Sale

On 27 February 2015 the SacOil Board endorsed a plan to investigate the termination of the Group’s participation in OPL 233 in Nigeria. The termination 
was in line with the balancing and rationalising of the Group’s portfolio of assets with the aim to restructure the Group’s future capital requirements 
and to focus on cash-generative assets and low-risk exploration assets. The Farm-in Agreement provides for the recovery of costs incurred on 
the asset upon termination. The process to give effect to the termination in accordance with the Farm-in Agreement was completed in May 2015. 
The non-current asset held for sale and the liabilities associated with this asset were therefore derecognised during the year ended 29 February 2016. 
The Group no longer has future commitments or obligations relating to participation in this asset:

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

GROUP
Asset held for sale
Exploration and evaluation assets – OPL 233 Nigeria – 21 840

GROUP AND COMPANY
Liabilities directly associated with the asset held for sale
Nigdel – (21 840)

Prior to classification as an asset held for sale, in the prior year, OPL 233 was recognised as an exploration and evaluation asset in the accounting 
records of the Company’s subsidiary SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited. Consequently OPL 233 was recognised as an asset by the Group and not the 
Company. An asset held for sale was therefore reported at Group-level only. 

SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited’s obligations were funded by SacOil Holdings Limited. The Nigdel liability associated with OPL 233 was recognised by 
SacOil Holdings Limited and, consequently, the Group. The liability directly associated with the asset held for sale was therefore reported for both 
Group and Company results.

Immediately before the classification as an asset held for sale OPL 233 had a carrying amount of R215.9 million. An impairment loss of R194.1 million 
was recognised in the prior year to reduce the carrying amount of the asset to the fair value less costs to sell. The impairment loss was recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income under other operating costs. Nigdel has disputed the terms of SacOil’s conduct in relation to OPL 233 and 
its subsequent withdrawal. The directors of SacOil are, however, confident that their claim against Nigdel is valid. 

Prior to the derecognition of the non-current asset held for sale (and the associated liability) the balance was R30.2 million (2015: R21.8 million). 
The increase in the asset (and the associated liability) of R8.4 million compared to the prior year is attributable to foreign exchange movements as 
the asset (and the associated liability) was denominated in US Dollars. The foreign exchange movements and the reversal of the Nigdel indebtedness 
have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income under other income (note 6).

GROUP AND COMPANY

2016 2015

26 Stated caPital and ReSeRveS
Stated capital
Authorised: 
Number of ordinary shares with no par value (000’s) 10 000 000 10 000 000

Allotted equity share capital:
Reported at the beginning of the year (R’000) 1 216 504 1 109 977
Non-cash shares issued (R’000) – 106 527
As at 28/29 February (R’000) 1 216 504 1 216 504

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
Reported at the beginning of the year (000’s) 3 269 836 3 086 169
Non-cash shares issued (000’s) – 183 667
As at 28/29 February (000’s) 3 269 836 3 269 836

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016
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There were no non-cash shares issued during the year. Non-cash shares issued during the previous year are detailed below:

Date Nature of transaction

Number of 
shares issued

000s
Issue price

R
Fair value

R’000

2015

22 October 2014 Acquisition of Mena International Petroleum Company Limited (note 12) 183 667 0.58 106 527

 183 667  106 527 

GROUP

Reserves

Share-based
 payment reserve

R’000

Foreign currency 
translation reserve

R’000
Total

R’000

balance at 28 February 2014 6 002 –  6 002 

Share options issued 888 – 888 

Foreign exchange gains arising on translation of foreign operations – 8 717 8 717 

balance at 28 February 2015  6 890  8 717  15 607 

Share options issued 896 –  896 

Foreign exchange gains arising on translation of foreign operations – 61 460 61 460 

balance at 29 February 2016  7 786  70 177  77 963 

COMPANY

Share-based
 payment reserve

R’000

balance at 28 February 2014  6 002 

Share options issued 888 

balance at 28 February 2015  6 890 

Share options issued  896 

balance at 29 February 2016  7 786 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to recognise foreign exchange differences arising on the translation of Mena Cyprus’ US Dollar 
denominated financial results into the presentation currency.

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions provided to employees, 
including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. These transactions are disclosed in note 14.
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27 SubSidiaRieS witH mateRial nOn-cOntROlling inteReStS
27.1 SUbSIDIARIES wITh MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

At 29 February 2016 the Group has no non-controlling interests. A list of the subsidiaries of the Group is included in note 17. Prior to 
the disposals discussed below the Group had two subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (“NCIs”). Information regarding these 
subsidiaries is as follows:

NCI in subsidiary Profit allocated to NCI Accumulated NCI

Name
Principal place of 
business

2016
%

2015
%

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

SacOil Proprietary Limited (“S-Oil”) RSA – 50 – – – 19 818
Semliki SPRL (“Semliki”) DRC – 32 (13 996) (7 813) – (15 401)

 (13 996)  (7 813) –  4 417 

No dividends were paid to NCI during the current financial year (2015: nil).

Summarised financial information of the subsidiaries with material NCIs, pertaining to the period prior to disposal, representing 100% of the 
underlying subsidiaries’ relevant figures, is set out below:

S-Oil
R’000

 Semliki 
R’000

Total
R’000

2016
Other income – 24 517  24 517 
Other operating expenses – (28 975)  (28 975)
Investment income – 26 426  26 426 
Finance costs – –  – 
Taxation – (65 706)  (65 706)
Loss after tax  – (43 738) (43 738)

Equity attributable to owners of the parent  – (29 742)  (29 742)
Non-controlling interests  – (13 996)  (13 996)

2015
Non-current assets 41 285 312 042  353 327 
Current assets – 41 776  41 776 
Total assets  41 285  353 818  395 103 
Non-current liabilities – (165 312)  (165 312)
Current liabilities – (171 582)  (171 582)
Total liabilities – (336 894)  (336 894)
Net assets 41 285 16 924  58 209 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 21 467 32 325  53 792 
Non-controlling interests 19 818 (15 401)  4 417 

Other income – 6 993  6 993 
Other operating expenses – (23 775)  (23 775)
Investment income – 22 486  22 486 
Finance costs – (1)  (1)
Taxation – (30 117)  (30 117)
Loss after tax – (24 414) (24 414)

Equity attributable to owners of the parent – (16 601)  (16 601)
Non-controlling interests – (7 813)  (7 813)

No cash flow information has been presented as cash flows relating to the above subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are immaterial to 
the Group and Company.

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016
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27.2 TRANSACTIONS wITh NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2016
On 18 March 2015 the Company acquired the remaining 50% of the issued share capital of S-Oil. The non-controlling shareholder relinquished 
their interest for no consideration. The Company now holds 100% of the issued share capital of S-Oil. This has resulted in the derecognition 
of R19.8 million of the non-controlling interest with a corresponding increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company. This was the 
corresponding value of the non-controlling interest at the date of acquisition.

The effect of these changes in ownership on the equity attributable to owners of the Company are summarised below:
COMPANY

2016
R’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired 19 818
Consideration paid to non-controlling interest –
Difference recognised in retained earnings 19 818

On 29 February 2016 the Group completed the reorganisation of the holding of its interest in Block III which resulted in the disposal of the 
Group’s shareholding in Semliki. Details pertaining to the reorganisation are provided in note 13.

2015
On 10 March 2014 the Company acquired the remaining 30% of the issued shares of Transfer Holdings Proprietary Limited (“Transfer 
Holdings”). The non-controlling shareholders relinquished their interest for no consideration. The Company now holds 100% of the equity share 
capital of Transfer Holdings. The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in Transfer Holdings on the date of acquisition was a deficit 
of R11 952. The Group derecognised a non-controlling interest deficit of R11 952 and recorded a decrease in equity attributable to owners of 
the parent of the same amount. The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Transfer Holdings on the equity attributable to owners of the 
Company during the current and prior year is summarised as follows:

2015
R’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired (12)
Consideration paid to non-controlling interest –
Difference recognised in retained earnings (12)

28 inteReStS in JOint OPeRatiOnS
 Participating interest

Country of incorporation Nature of activities 2016 2015
OPL 233 Nigeria Exploration, development and production of oil and gas – 20%
Block III DRC Exploration, development and production of oil and gas 12.50% 18.34%

OPL 233
SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited (“SacOil 233”) jointly with other participants, had an interest in OPL 233 which is an offshore exploration block located in 
the shallow marine area of the Niger Delta. SacOil 233’s interest in OPL 233 was 20%. Other participants were Nigdel United Oil Company Limited 
which held an interest of 60% and Energy Equity Resources 233 Nigeria Limited which held an interest of 20%. Participation in OPL 233 by the 
participants was governed by the provisions of the Farm-in and Joint Operating Agreements concluded in 2010 which were subsequently amended 
in 2012. SacOil had a 50% paying interest in OPL 233. SacOil 233 terminated its participation in OPL 233 in May 2015 as disclosed in note 25.

bLOCk III
SacOil DRC SARL (“SacOil DRC”) jointly with other participants, has an interest in Block III which is located on the DRC side of the Albetine Graben 
Basin. SacOil DRC’s interest in Block III is 12.5%. Other participants are Total E&P RDC (“Total”) which holds an interest of 66.66%, DIG which holds 
an interest of 5.84% and the DRC Government which holds an interest of 15%. Participation in Block III by the participants is governed by the Farm-
in Agreements concluded in 2011 and 2012, the Joint Operating Agreement and Production Sharing Contract. The Farm-in Agreement with Total 
provides for a carry of costs by Total on behalf of SacOil DRC. The cost carry arrangement is disclosed in note 38. 

Assets relating to these joint operations are disclosed in note 15.
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GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

29 deFeRRed tax
Deferred tax liability:

Contingent consideration relating to the sale of exploration and 
evaluation assets (78 526) (95 070) – –

Foreign exchange revaluation of transactions with connected 
parties – – – (12 597)

Impairment provision – – – 9 756

Other – (2 076) – 765

(78 526) (97 146) – (2 076)

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as 
follows:

Reported at the beginning of the year (97 146) (92 498) (2 076) (3 901)

Elimination of deferred tax on disposal of Semliki1 53 113 – – –

Current year deferred tax (charge)/credit (note 9) (34 493) (4 648) 2 076 1 825

Contingent consideration relating to the sale of exploration 
and evaluation assets (36 569) (6 473) – –

Other 2 076 1 825 2 076 1 825

At 28/29 February (78 526) (97 146) – (2 076)

1  The amount shown here reflects the net effect of the R131.6 milllion 
derecognised on disposal of Semliki and the R78.5 million recognised 
in SacOil DRC on transfer of the Group’s assets and liabilities, previously 
owned in Semliki. Details pertaining to the disposal of Semliki are 
provided in note 13.

The Company’s tax losses in the current year for which no 
deferred tax asset has been recognised amount to R83.7 million 
(2015: R425.0 million).

30 OtHeR Financial liabilitieS
EERNL – 57 889 – –

– 57 889 – –

In the prior year SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited held 50% of the cash 
collateral in its bank account on behalf of EERNL. SacOil 233 
Nigeria recorded a liability to account for its indebtness to EERNL 
with respect to this cash collateral. Upon the conclusion of the 
settlement agreement and the subsequent release of the cash 
collateral EERNL utilised these funds to part repay a loan owed to 
SacOil, as disclosed in note 19.

31 tRade and OtHeR PaYableS
Trade payables 10 656 9 309 2 483 4 599

Accruals 10 585 16 223 12 977 14 447

Other payables 1 121 22 299 21

22 362 25 554 15 759 19 067

The carrying values of trade and other payables approximate their fair values.
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GROUP

Notes
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

32 eaRningS/(lOSS) PeR SHaRe

Basic (cents)  1.64  (8.54)

Diluted (cents)  1.64  (8.54)

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent used in the calculation of the basic and 
diluted loss per share 53 584 (269 216)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings/(loss) 
per share (000’s)  3 269 836  3 151 081 

Issued shares at the beginning of the reporting period (000’s)  3 269 836  3 086 169 

Effect of shares issued during the reporting period (weighted) (000’s)  –  64 912 

Add: Dilutive share options (000’s)  901  – 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) 
per share (000’s)  3 270 737  3 151 081 

headline earnings/(loss) per share

Basic (cents)  1.04  (4.67)

Diluted (cents)  1.04  (4.67)

Reconciliation of headline earnings/(loss)

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent 53 584 (269 216)

Adjusted for:

Impairment of non-current asset held for sale 6 – 194 066

Impairment of oil and gas properties 39 56 849 –

Impairment of other intangible assets 39 19 659 –

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 5  – 

Gain on acquisition of subsidiary 6 – (24 718)

Gain on reorganisation of interest in Block III 13 (103 624) –

Tax effects of adjustments 7 591 (47 417)

Headline earnings/(loss)  34 064 (147 285)
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GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

33 caSH uSed in OPeRatiOnS

Profit/(loss) before taxation 100 010 (249 851) 86 395 (464 884)

Adjusted for:

Depreciation and amortisation 6 10 918 2 372 1 444 244

Impairment of financial assets 6 26 083 96 975 – 436 535

Impairment of non-current assets held for sale 6 – 194 066 – –

Impairment of oil and gas properties 39 56 849 – – –

Impairment of other intangible assets 39 19 659

Write-down of SacOil Holdings Nigeria Limited loan – – 1 612 –

Management fees received 34 – – (5 607) (2 199)

Share-based payments 6 896 888 896 888

Provision for impairment of financial assets 6 – 87 476 – 83 331

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 5 – 5 –

Foreign exchange gains and losses (135 656) (79 449) (79 882) (59 429)

Interest received 7 (46 744) (158 052) (19 935) (117 455)

Finance costs 8 4 1 4 –

Bad debts – 65 433 – 65 433

Settlement discount – 30 – 30

Reversal of Nigdel liability 25 – – (30 241) –

Gain on acquisition of subsidiary – (24 718) – –

Gain on reorganisation of interest in Block III 13 (103 624) – (22 117) –

Other non-cash items (7 645) – – –

Changes in working capital:

Increase in inventories (2 688) (616) – –

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 3 747 36 833 (551) 133

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (3 189) (10 518) (3 307) 6 039

(81 375) (39 130) (71 284) (51 334)
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34 Related PaRtieS

Related parties of the Group include entities detailed in note 17 and key management. Key management include directors (executive and non-
executive), members of the Executive Committee and other senior employees.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

(a) TRANSACTIONS wITh GROUP COMPANIES

Management fees – – 5 607 2 199

SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited – – – 1 279

SacOil 281 Nigeria Limited – – – 168

Mena International Petroleum Company Limited – – 4 269 752

Transfer Holdings Proprietary Limited – – 1 338 –

Interest income – – – 11 484

SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited – – – 8 798

SacOil 281 Nigeria Limited – – – 2 686

– – 5 607 13 683

Management fees consist of payroll costs incurred in running the financial or operating activities of the subsidiaries plus a mark-up of 10%. 
Other terms for loans advanced to subsidiaries are given in note 18.

(b) kEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION GROUP AND COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Non-executive directors

Tito Mboweni 627 530

Mzuvukile Maqetuka 413 329

Ignatius Sehoole 457 352

Vusumzi Pikoli 383 321

Stephanus Muller 415 321

Gontse Moseneke 187 308

Danladi Verheijen 353 308

Titilola Akinleye 407 327

3 242 2 796
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GROUP AND COMPANY

Salary
R’000

Other benefits
R’000

bonus
R’000

Total
R’000

34 Related PaRtieS (continued)

(b) kEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION (continued)

Executive directors

2016

Dr Thabo Kgogo 3 710 – 557 4 267

Damain Matroos 2 807 93 435 3 335

Bradley Cerff 2 647 88 273 3 008

9 164 181 1 265 10 610

2015

Dr Thabo Kgogo 2 660 2 917 1 855 7 432

Damain Matroos 242 588 253 1 083

Bradley Cerff 1 531 – 957 2 488

Tariro Mudzimuirema 1 383 – 716 2 099

Roger Rees 563 – – 563

6 379 3 505 3 781 13 665

Other key management

2016

Willem de Meyer 2 120 – 212  2 332 

Magdy Bassaly 2 852 – 252 3 104

Tariro Mudzimuirema 1 674 56 270 2 000

 6 646  56 734 7 436

2015

Bradley Cerff 938 – –  938 

Willem de Meyer 1 937 – 890  2 827 

Magdy Bassaly 877 – –  877 

 3 752  –  890  4 642 

GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

(c) YEAR-END bALANCES

Loans receivable from subsidiaries 18 – – 163 700 108 476

Loans payable to subsidiaries 18 – – (318) (318)

Other benefits for the current year consists of pension fund contributions.
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(d) ShARE OPTIONS

Name of director Grant date

Share price
 at grant 

date
R

Exercise
 price

R

As at 
28 Feb
 2015 Issued

As at 
29 Feb
 2016

Vesting
 date

Expiry 
date

Brian Christie 21 Nov 2008 0.57 0.82 4 198 614  –   4 198 614 21 Nov 2008 20 Nov 2018

21 Nov 2008 0.56 0.82 2 099 307  –   2 099 307 21 Nov 2009 20 Nov 2018

21 Nov 2008 0.55 0.82 2 099 307  –   2 099 307 21 Nov 2010 20 Nov 2018

Gontse Moseneke 8 Jul 2010 0.4 0.29 1 566 457  –   1 566 457 8 Jul 2010 7 Jul 2020

8 Jul 2010 0.4 0.29 783 229  –   783 229 8 Jul 2011 7 Jul 2020

8 Jul 2010 0.4 0.29 783 229  –   783 229 8 Jul 2012 7 Jul 2020

Bradley Cerff 20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 2 150 000  –   2 150 000 20 Jun 2014 19 Jun 2024

20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 1 075 000  –   1 075 000 20 Jun 2015 19 Jun 2024

20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 1 075 000  –   1 075 000 20 Jun 2016 19 Jun 2024

Willem de Meyer 20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 1 675 000  –   1 675 000 20 Jun 2014 19 Jun 2024

20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 837 500  –   837 500 20 Jun 2015 19 Jun 2024

20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 837 500  –   837 500 20 Jun 2016 19 Jun 2024

Tariro Mudzimuirema 20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 1 250 000  –   1 250 000 20 Jun 2014 19 Jun 2024

20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 625 000  –   625 000 20 Jun 2015 19 Jun 2024

20 Jun 2014 0.5 0.53 625 000  –   625 000 20 Jun 2016 19 Jun 2024

Dr Thabo Kgogo 2 Dec 2014 0.39 0.42 1 950 000  –   1 950 000 2 Dec 2015 1 Dec 2025

2 Dec 2014 0.39 0.42 1 950 000  –   1 950 000 2 Dec 2016 1 Dec 2025

2 Dec 2014 0.39 0.42 1 950 000  –   1 950 000 2 Dec 2017 1 Dec 2025

Damain Matroos 10 Jun 2015 0.25 0.23  –    1 611 111  1 611 111 10 Jun 2016 9 Jun 2026

10 Jun 2015 0.25 0.23  –    1 611 111  1 611 111 10 Jun 2017 9 Jun 2026

10 Jun 2015 0.25 0.23  –    1 611 111  1 611 111 10 Jun 2018 9 Jun 2026

27 530 143  4 833 333 32 363 476
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35 FaiR value meaSuRement
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, other financial liabilities and trade and other payables approximate carrying values due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments. Other financial assets and loans to Group companies are evaluated by the Group at measurement date based 
on inputs such as interest, exchange rates, country-specific factors and creditworthiness of debtors.

Carrying value Fair value
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
GROUP
Loans and receivables
Other financial assets (note 19)1 636 944 677 394 540 851 590 453

COMPANY
Loans and receivables
Loans to Group companies (note 18) 163 700 108 476 101 346 77 990
Other financial assets (note 19)1 287 747 287 608 259 539 269 508

1  In terms of SacOil’s accounting policies and IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) these financial instruments are carried at 
amortised cost and not at fair value, given that SacOil intends to collect the cash flows from these instruments when they fall due over the life of the instrument. 
Changes in market discount rates which affect fair value would therefore not impact the valuation of these financial instruments and are not considered to be objective 
evidence of impairment for items carried at amortised cost per IAS 39 as this does not impact the timing or amount of expected future cash flows.

VALUATION TEChNIqUES AND ASSUMPTIONS APPLIED TO MEASURE FAIR VALUES
Fair value at 29 February 2016 

GROUP COMPANY
Assets R’000 R’000 Valuation technique Significant inputs
Other financial assets 540 851 259 539 Discounted cash flow model Weighted average cost of capital
Loans to Group companies – 101 346 Discounted cash flow model Weighted average cost of capital

FAIR VALUE hIERARChY
The following table presents the Group’s assets not measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, but for which the fair value is 
disclosed on the previous page. The different levels have been defined as follows:

•	 Level	1	–		Quoted	(unadjusted)	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities

•	 Level	2	–		Other	techniques	for	which	all	inputs	which	have	a	significant	effect	on	the	recorded	fair	value	are	observable,	either	directly	or	indirectly

•	 Level	3	–		Techniques	which	use	inputs	that	have	a	significant	effect	on	the	recorded	fair	value	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data

Level 1 
R’000

Level 2
R’000

Level 3
R’000

Total
R’000

GROUP
At 29 February 2016
Other financial assets  –  540 851 540 851

At 28 February 2015
Other financial assets – – 590 453 590 453
Assets held for sale – – 21 840 21 840

COMPANY
At 29 February 2016
Other financial assets  –  –  259 539  259 539 
Loans to Group companies – – 101 346 101 346

At 28 February 2015
Other financial assets – – 269 508 269 508
Loans to Group companies – – 77 990 77 990

There were no transfers between any levels during the year.

NOTES TO ThE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED 
for the year ended 29 February 2016
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36 Financial RiSK management
36.1 FINANCIAL RISk FACTORS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management 
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk 
and commodity risk.

(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, 
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign subsidiaries. The Group’s foreign currency exposures are managed 
by Group Finance. Management is looking into the implementation of foreign currency hedging to manage foreign currency 
exposures within the Group.

At 29 February 2016, if the Rand had weakened or strengthened by 11% against the US Dollar with all other variables held 
constant, Group post-tax profit for the year would have been R61.6 million higher (2015: Group post-tax loss would have been 
R83.3 million lower) and R61.6 million lower (2015: Group post-tax loss would been R83.3 million higher), mainly as a result of 
foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of US Dollar denominated financial assets (note 19) and other financial liabilities 
(note 30).

At 29 February 2016, if the Rand had weakened or strengthened by 11% against the US Dollar, with all other variables held 
constant, Company post-tax profit for the year would have been R40.8 million higher (2015: Company post-tax loss would have 
been R74.9 million lower) and R40.8 million lower (2015: Company post-tax loss would have been R74.9 million higher), mainly 
as a result of foreign exchange gains and losses on the translation of US Dollar denominated financial assets (note 19), US dollar 
denominated loans to Group companies (note 18) and other financial liabilities (note 30).

Included in the statement of financial position are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the Rand:

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

GROUP

US Dollars

Financial assets 559 563 721 170

Financial liabilities – (57 889)

Trade and other receivables 2 334 –

Cash and cash equivalents 17 127 –

COMPANY

US Dollars

Financial assets 370 646 322 928

Financial liabilities – 57 889

Variations in exchange rates for the Pula or British Pound have a minimal effect on the financial results of the Group and Company.
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36 Financial RiSK management (continued)

36.1 FINANCIAL RISk FACTORS (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents. The Group has no debt at 
29 February 2016 (2015: Rnil). Cash and cash equivalents deposited at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate 
risk. Cash and cash equivalents deposited at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents are deposited at fixed interest rates, thereby eliminating cash flow interest rate risk. Variations in interest rate 
have a minimal impact on the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.

At 29 February 2016 and in the prior year the impact of interest rate fluctuations on the financial instruments of the Group and 
Company would have been immaterial to the Group and Company profit for the year. 

(iii) Price risk

The Group has no financial instruments exposed to price risk.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations, resulting in financial loss to the Group. Credit 
risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents (note 24), including deposits with banks and financial 
institutions, the contingent and deferred consideration and loans to operating partners (note 19). For banks and financial institutions, 
only independently rated parties with high credit ratings are accepted. The Group aims to trade only with recognised and creditworthy 
third parties to minimise the risk of default on the contingent consideration, loans to operating partners and the deferred considerations.

Trade receivables

The Group’s petroleum sales are made to the EGPC. At 29 February 2016 all trade receivables represent amounts due from the EGPC. 
There was a history of defaults in the past with respect to this customer, however payments have become more regular in recent times, 
with debtors’ days averaging circa 45 days. Details of the credit quality of trade receivables is given in note 23.

Other financial assets

The concentration of credit risk for other financial assets is given in note 19. There has been a history of default on the loan advanced 
to EERNL. The Encha Energy debt became due and payable on 29 February 2016 but remains unpaid as at the date of these financial 
statements (see note 3.12 and 39). No other defaults have occurred with respect to other financial assets.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 29 February 2016 is the carrying value of each group of financial assets outlined 
in notes 19, 23 and 24.
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36 Financial RiSK management (continued)
36.1 FINANCIAL RISk FACTORS (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Cash flow forecasting is 
performed for the operating entities of the Group and aggregated by Group Finance. Group Finance monitors rolling forecasts of the 
Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting 
date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

1 – 3 months
R’000

3 – 6 months
R’000

6 – 12 months
R’000

Total
R’000

GROUP
At 29 February 2016
Trade and other payables (note 31) 22 362 – – 22 362
Total 22 362 – – 22 362

At 28 February 2015
Other financial liabilities (note 30) – 57 889 – 57 889
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for 
sale (note 25) – 21 840 – 21 840
Trade and other payables (note 31) 25 554 – – 25 554
Total 25 554 79 729 – 105 283

COMPANY
At 29 February 2016
Loan from Group company (note 18) – – 318 318
Trade and other payables (note 31) 15 759 – – 15 759
Total 15 759 – 318 16 077

At 28 February 2015
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for 
sale (note 25) – 21 840 – 21 840
Loan from Group company (note 18) – – 318 318
Trade and other payables (note 31) 19 067 – – 19 067
Total 19 067 21 840 318 41 225

36.2 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it remains sufficiently funded to support its business strategy and maximise shareholder value. 
The Group’s funding needs are met through a combination of debt and equity.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net cash, which includes cash and cash equivalents after deducting financial liabilities and equity 
attributable to equity shareholders of the parent, comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in the 
statement of changes in equity.

The Group would ordinarily monitor capital on the basis of the net debt ratio, that is the ratio of net debt to net debt plus equity; however, at 
29 February 2016 the Group was in a net cash position of R107.4 million (2015: R55.5 million), following the receipt of the cash collateral in 
June 2015. As such no gearing ratio has been calculated at 29 February 2016 or as at 28 February 2015. The net cash position of the Group 
was as follows:

GROUP
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
Cash and cash equivalents (note 24)1 107 349 113 419
Less: Short- and long-term financial liabilities – (57 889)
Net cash 107 349 55 530

1 Excluding restricted cash. 
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37 eventS aFteR tHe RePORting PeRiOd
The following events took place from the period 1 March 2016 to the date of this report:

•	 	During	April	2016,	SacOil	and	Energy	Equity	Resources	(“EER”)	signed	a	Memorandum	of	Understanding	to	explore	oil	and	gas	opportunities	in	
the Republic of Nigeria. Pursuant to this initiative, SacOil and EER were awarded a 12-month contract for the purchase of crude oil grades by the 
Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation for onward sale. The first lifting of the crude oil is expected to take place in the middle of June 2016.

•	 The	receivable	from	Encha	Energy	(“Encha”),	disclosed	in	note	19,	became	due	and	payable	on	29	February	2016.	This	amount	remains	unpaid	
as at the date of this report. Under the terms of the Acknowledgement of Debt Agreement concluded with Encha, interest calculated at the prime 
rate plus 3% shall accrue on the outstanding balance. Notwithstanding the date on which the outstanding balance became due and payable, 
such interest will be calculated from 28 February 2013 to the date of actual payment. The Group is in discussions to recover these funds. As a 
consequence the directors have considered the carrying value of this receivable from Encha Energy as disclosed in note 19. The fact that 
Encha Group Limited is a surety for the receivable, the short length of the default as well as the additional interest which accrues against this 
receivable have resulted in the directors’ conclusion that SacOil will recover at least the carrying value at 29 February 2016.

38 cOmmitmentS and cOntingent liabilitieS
GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Commitments 
Exploration and evaluation assets – work programme commitments – due within 12 months 830 68 661
Exploration and evaluation assets – work programme commitments – due within 13 to 48 months 51 282 19 500
Total  52 112  88 161 

Exploration and evaluation commitments will be funded through a combination of cash, debt and 
equity funding.

Contingent liabilities 
Performance bond on OPL 233 issued by Ecobank in respect of OPL 233’s exploration activities1 – 173 666
Cost carry arrangement with Total2 95 773 96 613
Total 95 773  270 279 

1 Performance bond
  The performance bond issued by Ecobank in respect of the OPL 233 exploration activities expired on 2 May 2015.

2 Cost carry arrangement
   The Farm-In Agreement between Semliki and Total provides for a carry of costs by Total on behalf of Semliki on Block III. Semliki’s rights under this contract were 

subsequently assigned to SacOil DRC as part of the reorganisation concluded on 29 February 2016 (see note 13). Total will be entitled to recover these costs, being 
SacOil DRC’s share of the production costs on Block III, plus interest, from future oil revenues. The contingency becomes probable when production of oil commences 
and will be raised in full at that point. At 29 February 2016 Total has incurred R95.8 million (28 February 2015: R96.6 million) of costs on behalf of SacOil DRC. Should 
this liability be recognised, a corresponding increase in assets will be recognised, which, together with existing exploration and evaluation assets, will be recognised 
as development infrastructure assets.
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39 imPaiRment OF nOn-cuRRent aSSetS
2016

R’000
Impairment losses:
Oil and gas properties (note 16)  56 849 
Other intangible assets (note 21)  19 659 

 76 508 

The Group’s oil and gas properties and other intangible assets form part of a single cash generating unit (“CGU”). This CGU falls within the Egypt 
reportable segment (note 5). The trigger for impairment testing for the current year was the decline in oil prices which significantly affected the 
revenue of the Group. This decline occurred subsequent to the acquisition of Mena in October 2014.

In assessing whether an impairment is required, the carrying value of the CGU is compared with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of the CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Given the nature of the Group’s activities, information on the fair value of an asset 
is usually difficult to obtain unless negotiations with potential purchasers or similar transactions are taking place. Consequently, unless indicated 
otherwise, the recoverable amount used in assessing the impairment charges above is value in use. The Group generally estimates value in use using 
a discounted cash flow model.

Key assumptions relating to this valuation include the discount rate and cash flows used to determine the value in use. Future cash flows are 
estimated based on financial budgets approved by management covering a three-year period and are extrapolated over the useful life of the assets 
to reflect the long-term plans for the Group using the estimated growth rate for the specific business. The future cash flows were discounted to 
their present values using a pre-tax discount rate of 10%. This discount rate is derived from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital 
(“WACC”), with appropriate adjustments made to reflect the risks specific to the CGU and to determine the pre-tax rate. The WACC takes into account 
targeted debt and equity, weighted 50% each. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the Group’s investors. The 
cost of debt is based on the interest rate at which the Group would be able to borrow for future expenditure. Segment-specific risk is incorporated 
by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.

Other key assumptions used:
Crude oil prices: Forecast commodity prices are based on management’s estimates and available market data.
Production rates: Based on management’s best estimate of production profiles.
Growth rate estimates: Rates are based on published industry research.
Gross margins: Gross margins are based on average values achieved since the acquisition of the assets. 

Management has considered the sensitivity of the value-in-use calculation to various key assumptions such as crude oil prices and production rates. 
These sensitivities have been taken into consideration in determining the required impairments. A 10% change in any of these variables could change 
the recoverable amount by R22.1 million to R113.8 million.

There was no impairment of the Group’s other non-current assets.

40 OPeRating leaSe cOmmitmentS
The Group has entered into operating leases on premises, with a lease term of five years. Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable 
operating leases as at 29 February 2016 are as follows:

GROUP COMPANY
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
2016

R’000
2015

R’000
Within one year 1 549 1 427 1 549 1 427
After one year but not more that five years 5 304 6 852 5 304 6 852

6 853 8 279 6 853 8 279
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